# **CREATING DIRECTION**

# A GUIDE FOR IMPROVING LONG-TERM CARE IN SOUTH CAROLINA



## About the South Carolina Institute of Medicine & Public Health's Long-Term Care Taskforce:

The **vision** of the Long-Term Care Taskforce is an integrated and fiscally sustainable system of high quality, affordable and accessible long-term services and supports for all South Carolinians who need them, including older adults, people with disabilities and caregivers. Such a system would be person-centered and enable sufficient options for individuals and their caregivers to choose the most appropriate care in the least restrictive setting.

The taskforce **mission** is to create lasting improvements in our state's system of long-term services and supports by developing and recommending cost-effective, actionable solutions to current and future challenges.

#### **REPORT AUTHORS**

Eleanor Stein, MSW Long-Term Care Taskforce Coordinator South Carolina Institute of Medicine & Public Health

Sam Waldrep, MA, LMSW Senior Advisor South Carolina Institute of Medicine & Public Health

Joseph L. (Lee) Pearson, MS, DrPH Director of Operations South Carolina Institute of Medicine & Public Health

Cover illustration and design: Maria Fabrizio

For more information about this report, please contact Lee Pearson at lee@imph.org.

Suggested citation: Stein, E., Waldrep, S. & Pearson, J.L. 2015. Creating Direction: A Guide for Improving Long-Term Care in South Carolina. South Carolina Institute of Medicine and Public Health.

The South Carolina Institute of Medicine & Public Health (IMPH) is an independent entity serving as a neutral convener around the important health issues in our state. IMPH also serves as a resource for evidence-based information to inform health policy decisions.

#### WWW.IMPH.ORG



#### CREATING DIRECTION: A Guide for Improving Long-Term Care in South Carolina

#### PREFACE

We all wish we had a roadmap for life...a guide to what's around the corner. Unfortunately, life doesn't come with such a guide, and circumstances change-often with little warning. Whether it is the child born with complex medical needs, the young adult whose independence is lost as a result of an accident or life-changing illness or the older adult in need of increasing support with daily living, people at all ages in many different circumstances face the need for long-term care. Whether you are an individual needing such care or you know someone who does, all of us have thought of what that circumstance would be like. Where would we turn for help? What help would be available? How would we pay for it? And, ultimately, how would we find our way? That last question is important not only for individuals and families across our state that face these challenging circumstances every day, but it is a vital question for South Carolina.

#### What is the best direction for our state when it comes to improving long-term care?

To answer this question, the South Carolina Institute of Medicine & Public Health convened a Long-Term Care Taskforce in 2014 to bring together providers, researchers and advocates to develop actionable recommendations that provide solutions to current and future challenges. The collective vision of the 65 individuals who took part in this effort is an integrated and fiscally sustainable system of high quality, affordable and accessible long-term services and supports for South Carolinians who need them, including older adults, people with disabilities and their caregivers. **The following report outlines the recommendations of the taskforce, offering a rationale and action steps for each. In its entirety, this package of recommendations provides a guide for improving long-term care in South Carolina.** 

#### A LETTER FROM THE CHAIR OF THE LONG-TERM CARE TASKFORCE

Over the past year and a half, a Long-Term Care Taskforce of providers, researchers and advocates from across South Carolina has worked together in exploring ways to improve our state's system of long-term services and supports. This report represents the collective wisdom of those experts and provides actionable guidance for achieving needed improvements in the system. The 30 recommendations put forth by the taskforce and outlined in this report highlight opportunities to enhance current long-term care options for both older adults and people with disabilities and provide essential strategies to reshape the system to meet future demand.

With the rise of the Baby Boom generation, the older adult population in our state and nation will nearly double over the next 15 years. The societal implications of this dramatic demographic shift will be broad and pervasive. Of particular note, the aging population will warrant a significant expansion of capacity in long-term care, ultimately requiring expanded public and private-sector investment and a greater focus on return on that investment. Such changes will also require new thinking about how long-term care can be delivered in the most appropriate, cost-effective and least restrictive settings.

The demographic changes looming on the horizon are a certain reality, and they will challenge our long-term care system in significant ways. This challenge creates a unique generational problem that must be addressed. The current approach to providing long-term care will not meet the exponential growth in demand, nor will it be affordable in its current structure. This is not someone else's problem– it is everyone's problem–and the time to address it is now.

As Chair of the Long-Term Care Taskforce, I commend this report to our state's leaders for their attention and action. In so doing, I extend my appreciation to the taskforce members and the Steering Committee for their expertise and dedication to this effort. I also thank the Board of Directors of the South Carolina Institute of Medicine & Public Health for their support of the Long-Term Care Taskforce and their endorsement of this report and its recommendations. Ultimately, the type of collaborative leadership that made this report possible will serve as a model for guiding its implementation.

Jula Somita

Joel A. Smith Dean Emeritus, USC Moore School of Business Retired President, Bank of America – East Region Banking Group

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Preface	1
A Letter from the Chair	2
Executive Summary	4
List of Recommendations	4
Overview of Taskforce Process	6
Long-Term Care Taskforce Leadership	7
Acknowledgments	7
Introduction	8
The Urgency of the Problem	9
An Overview of the Current System	12
Creating Direction: Improving Long-Term Care	13
Taskforce Recommendations: Areas for Improvement	14
Promoting Efficiencies in the System	15
Strengthening the Long-Term Care Continuum	20
Ensuring an Adequate and Trained Workforce	29
Protecting Vulnerable Adults	39
Supporting Family Caregivers	44
Promoting Choice and Independence through Education	53
The Next Chapter: Future Directions	61
References	63
Appendix A: Full List of Taskforce Members	67
Appendix B: Overview of Agency Services	71
Appendix C: Acronym List	72

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Throughout 2014, the South Carolina Institute of Medicine & Public Health (IMPH) convened a taskforce of providers, researchers and advocates to explore the complex, long-term care needs of older adults and people living with disabilities and how those needs are addressed through the system of long-term services and supports. The Long-Term Care Taskforce engaged experts from across our state in exploring critical issues and identifying solutions to current and future challenges. The result of this process was the development of 30 actionable recommendations that create direction for improving long-term care in South Carolina over the next five years. This report highlights different components of the long-term care system and describes the recommendations of the taskforce along with potential action steps for achieving them. It is the goal of the Long-Term Care Taskforce that improvements to South Carolina's system of long-term services and supports occur as a result of these recommendations.

#### LIST OF RECOMMENDATIONS

Note: The recommendations have been numbered for ease of reference, not to establish priority. They are also presented within topical areas based on the sections of this report.

#### Promoting Efficiencies in the System

- 1. Require agencies providing long-term services and supports to collaborate in the development of their programs/services and in budgetary planning.
- Coordinate state agency consumer assessment processes to improve consumer experience and state-level data collection and analysis.
- 3. Continue efforts to move the state closer to coordinated and integrated care for individuals in need of Medicaid-sponsored long-term services and supports.

#### Strengthening the Long-Term Care Continuum

- Expand support for Medicaid-sponsored long-term services and supports over the next five years to strengthen and expand home and community-based services as part of a full spectrum of care options.
- 5. Expand access to home and community-based options to meet the needs of specific target populations who do not qualify for current service options.
- Enhance the mission of the Lieutenant Governor's Office on Aging (LGOA) and its capacity to coordinate with the Area Agencies on Aging/Aging Disability Resources Centers and service providers. As a part of this effort, conduct a review to determine the optimal organizational placement of the LGOA.
- 7. Ensure access to a highly qualified and trained workforce of individuals who coordinate and manage care.

#### **Ensuring an Adequate and Trained Workforce**

- 8. Establish a Long-Term Care Workforce Development Consortium to ensure the development of a sufficient workforce of health care professionals and unlicensed workers with competencies in long-term services and supports.
- 9. Increase the presence and capacity of nurses in the long-term care workforce.
- 10. Seek ways to increase compensation for direct care workers in home and communitybased settings and enhance reimbursement rates for home and community-based service providers who employ direct care workers.
- 11. Establish the infrastructure for a comprehensive, statewide training program for direct care workers in home and community-based settings that will improve outcomes for consumers.

- 12. Develop a comprehensive Direct Care Worker Registry to be used as a resource for consumers, family caregivers and providers.
- 13. Enable registered nurses to delegate specific nursing tasks to unlicensed direct care workers with sufficient training and demonstrated competencies, subject to consumer protections.

#### **Protecting Vulnerable Adults**

- 14. Develop an Adult Abuse Registry.
- 15. Ensure vulnerable adults are protected through an adequate Adult Protective Services Program and have access to preventive services that keep them safely in their homes and from requiring more expensive services.
- 16. Improve the quality and consistency of care in community residential care facilities (CRCFs) through enhancements to and oversight of CRCF licensing regulations and the Optional State Supplementation and Optional Supplemental Care for Assisted Living Participants Programs.

#### **Supporting Family Caregivers**

- 17. Improve access and funding for flexible respite services.
- 18. Increase access to training opportunities and sources of ongoing support for family caregivers to sustain them in their caregiving roles.
- 19. Enhance the capacity of the Aging Network to ensure that family caregivers receive critical services, including thorough assessment, education, training and support.
- 20. Promote the role of family caregivers as critical members of the care team and encourage family engagement.
- 21. Develop and strengthen financial and employment supports for family caregivers.

#### Promoting Choice and Independence through Education

- 22. Enhance and coordinate statewide fall prevention efforts, as well as other preventive programs/services.
- 23. Develop and market a comprehensive, user-friendly online information and referral resource for long-term services and supports, which will include resources for family caregivers.
- 24. Institute an ongoing informational campaign to educate consumers about the need to save and plan for long-term care expenses.
- 25. Strengthen the state's infrastructure to provide greater supports to consumers and families regarding options to maintain independence.
- 26. Support and enhance awareness about statewide education efforts regarding advance care planning based on the needs and values of individuals.

#### **Future Directions**

- 27. Develop a formal strategic plan for providing and sustaining long-term services and supports for older adults and people with disabilities in our state.
- 28. Form a statewide taskforce on transportation that engages experts, consumers and leaders from across South Carolina in an effort to enhance transportation services, particularly for older adults and persons with disabilities.
- 29. Develop formal "incubator" processes to pilot and evaluate new approaches to providing longterm services and supports.
- 30. Establish a formal and structured implementation process that brings collective focus, leadership and accountability to each of these recommendations.

#### **OVERVIEW OF TASKFORCE PROCESS**

The Long-Term Care Taskforce was convened by the South Carolina Institute of Medicine & Public Health (IMPH) in 2014 with the **mission** of creating lasting improvements in our state's system of long-term services and supports by developing and recommending cost-effective, actionable solutions to current and future challenges. This extensive, year-long effort was driven by the goal that the long-term care system in our state should be person-centered and enable sufficient options for individuals and their caregivers to choose the most appropriate care in the least restrictive setting.

The work of the taskforce was endorsed by the Board of Directors of IMPH and was guided by a 16-member Steering Committee chaired by Mr. Joel Smith, Dean Emeritus of the University of South Carolina's Moore School of Business and a former president of Bank of America. The full taskforce included 65 providers, researchers and advocates from across the state who conducted their work through four committees focused respectively on the broad issues of **access to care**, **financing and affordability**, **providers and workforce**, and **service delivery**. The initial members of the Steering Committee identified these topics through a deliberative process in an effort to ensure that this report addressed a comprehensive array of issues affecting long-term care in our state. Since not every issue identified could be examined in detail, the committees were asked to focus on issues that could be effectively addressed in the context of a five-year horizon for change.

The initial eight Steering Committee members selected co-chairs for each of the four committees and included those individuals as members of the full Steering Committee. The co-chairs of each committee–with support from IMPH staff–populated the committees through key contacts and a networking process enacted to ensure an effective array of perspectives, experience and expertise among participants. The individual committees were then charged with developing actionable recommendations to advance improvements in the long-term care system. Each committee formed subcommittees to examine the details of critical issues, hear from outside experts and craft recommendations for review by the full committee. Once each committee refined and approved its recommendations, members of the Steering Committee reviewed and approved the entire package for presentation to the IMPH Board.

#### LONG-TERM CARE TASKFORCE LEADERSHIP

Mr. Joel A. Smith, Chair Dean Emeritus, USC Moore School of Business Retired President Bank of America (East Region Banking Group)

#### **Steering Committee Members**

\* Denotes individuals who served as committee co-chairs

Ms. Cindy Alewine President and CEO Alzheimer's Association, SC Chapter

Ms. Teresa Arnold State Director, AARP South Carolina

Ms. Coretta Bedsole\* Associate State Director for Advocacy AARP South Carolina

Ms. Stephanie Blunt\* Executive Director, Trident Area Agency on Aging

> Mr. Bruce Bondo\* Member, Silver Haired Legislature

Dr. Tom Brown\* President and CEO (retired) Lutheran Homes of South Carolina

Ms. Pam Dukes\* Executive Director, Senior Resources

> Ms. Cindy Helling\* Executive Director (former) Select Health of South Carolina

Ms. Nikki Hutchison Principal, Capstone Consulting, LLC

Mr. Lea Kerrison Kerrison Law, LLC Director, Medicaid Services South Carolina Alliance of Health Plans

Mr. Tony Kester Director (retired), Lt. Governor's Office on Aging

Dr. Pete Liggett Deputy Director, Long Term Care and Behavioral Health SC Department of Health and Human Services

> Ms. Vickie Moody CEO, LeadingAge South Carolina

Ms. Gloria Prevost Executive Director Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc

> Dr. Anna Scheyett\* Dean and Professor, USC College of Social Work

> > Mr. Sam Waldrep\* Chair (past) Adult Protection Coordinating Council

#### Acknowledgments

Any effort of this scope and duration would not be possible without the committed involvement of many people. Appreciation goes first and foremost to the numerous individuals who gave their time, talent and insights in support of the work of this taskforce. The providers, researchers and advocates involved in this process were truly dedicated and offered critical perspectives on the comprehensive array of issues addressed. They gave generously of themselves and their organizations, and they were purposeful in their work–never forgetting that their efforts were on behalf of a countless number of care recipients and caregivers across our state needing effective solutions to the real challenges they face each day.

The individuals who served on the Steering Committee for this taskforce guided every aspect of this work with careful consideration and focused determination. The combined expertise and experience of this group reflects the very best of the long-term care system in our state. As a group of leaders, they applied their understanding of the issues while rising above individual and organizational interests. Together with the members of the full taskforce, they created actionable recommendations that offer an opportunity to improve the system of long-term care in our state for years to come. All of these individuals deserve high praise for their work.

Special recognition goes to the taskforce chair, Mr. Joel Smith. As a distinguished business leader and a member of the SC Business Hall of Fame, Mr. Smith brought respected and unbiased leadership to this entire process. His insightful yet neutral perspective shaped the work of the taskforce without influencing the outcomes. He provided objectivity with a full measure of credibility-requesting as his only compensation a fair and purposeful process leading to effective solutions to current and future challenges.

Ultimately, this report is dedicated to the care recipients and caregivers, both formal and informal, who are at the center of the long-term care system.

# "The issue of aging is the central public health challenge of our lifetime."

- Former Lieutenant Governor Glenn McConnell March 2014

#### INTRODUCTION

The phrase "long-term care" evokes images in each of our minds-images that typically reflect other people in circumstances or places we wouldn't want to be. For those who have personal experience with long-term care, either directly or through a friend or family member, a much clearer image emerges. That image is one of a complex system with high costs, fragmented services and, in far too many instances, unmet need. Unfortunately, that image provides a rather realistic picture of the current system of long-term care in South Carolina. Those in need of long-term services and supports in our state currently rely on a disjointed system of care that can limit individual choice and often fails to adequately foster or extend independence. In addition, far too little attention is given to issues of quality, safety and dignity of care. These concerns–combined with a price tag that is often beyond the reach of individuals and families and increasingly beyond the reach of government–require solutions. Such solutions must draw on both public and private resources, expand innovative practices and engage traditional and non-traditional stakeholders including businesses, faith-based initiatives, community organizations, individuals and families.

South Carolina needs practical solutions that build on what works in the long-term care system and create fixes to identified problems. This report of the Long-Term Care Taskforce provides just such solutions—those urgently needed by individuals and families across South Carolina. Through actionable recommendations addressing specific elements of the system, this report advances solutions to current and future challenges relating to long-term care.

#### The dramatically shifting demographics of our aging population create a serious problem. It is not someone else's problem-it is everybody's problem. **The time to address it is NOW.**

Individuals of all ages can find themselves in need of long-term care due to limitations caused by physical, cognitive or chronic health conditions. Older adults, though, are more likely than most to need such services due to the limiting effects of aging. In fact, an estimated 70% of those over 65 will need long-term care in their lifetime, creating a significant demand for services among a rapidly expanding segment of the population.<sup>1</sup> In 2014, an estimated 734,537 South Carolinians were age 65 and older, a number that is set to grow dramatically with 85 and over are among the fastest growing segments of the overall population, and South Carolina is ahead of the national average in that category as well.<sup>3</sup> Over the next two decades, the number of South Carolinians 85 and over is expected to exceed 100,000–an important statistic given the dramatic increase in risk for Alzheimer's disease and related disorders among this population.<sup>5,6</sup> As such high-risk, high-need groups expand, demographic trends also show the proportion of those available to serve as caregivers will actually decline.<sup>7</sup> It

## By 2029, when the youngest BABY BOOMERS reach age 65, it is expected that our state's population of older adults will exceed **11 MILLIO** resulting in one in five South Carolinians being over the age of 65.

the rise of the Baby Boom generation (those born between 1946 and 1964).<sup>2</sup> From 2000 to 2010, South Carolina's older adult population grew by 32.1%, putting the state in the top ten fastest growing older adult populations.<sup>3</sup> By 2029, when the youngest Baby Boomers reach age 65, it is expected that our state's population of older adults will exceed 1.1 million, resulting in one in five South Carolinians being over the age of 65.<sup>4</sup> Most notably, those is this demographic imperative that drives the urgency of the situation in long-term care. As former Lieutenant Governor Glenn McConnell stated in his "State of Aging" address to the SC General Assembly in March of 2014, "The issue of aging is the central public health challenge of our lifetime."

The dramatic increase in the older adult population-not just in South Carolina but

nationally-will be felt across all aspects of society, impacting far more than the demand for long-term care. However, it is important to realize that long-term care is not an issue just for the aged, as nearly 43% of all those needing such care are under the age of 65.1 Many younger individuals require long-term services and supports as a result of disability, injury, illness or other complex medical conditions, and their need for such services is often very different from those of older adults and may be of significantly longer duration. While it is important to recognize that the sheer number of those needing services will grow dramatically, the precise and varied needs of the individuals utilizing the long-term care system must be understood as well.

Generally, a person needing long-term services and supports requires assistance with activities of daily living (ADLs), such as eating, bathing and dressing; or instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs), such as transportation, meal preparation or medication management.<sup>8</sup> The need for support may be intermittent for specific activities, or it may be ongoing. In complex cases, the circumstances may include the need informal support to a person needing assistance with daily living—is also a major factor influencing the type and degree of services warranted and the point at which they are accessed. Ultimately, the need for long-term care and the setting in which it is delivered are driven by many complex issues and lead to critical questions relating to what is feasible, affordable, preferable and in the best interest of all involved.

Respecting that individuals and families pay considerable costs for long-term care, efforts to promote affordable options are essential in every aspect of the system. Currently, the more traditional service options are often beyond the financial reach of many people in South Carolina. Such traditional forms of long-term care, such as nursing facilities and assisted living, offer comprehensive services, but the total cost is often well beyond the means of individuals and families. For example, the 2014 median annual cost for nursing facility care in South Carolina was \$67,525 (based on a semi-private room).9 The 2014 median annual cost of assisted living in our state was \$34,485,9 a cost most often paid directly by the care recipient and/or their

# **TOO** of those over 65 will need long-term care in their lifetime **430** of all those needing such care are under the age of 65

for highly specialized services. The spectrum of services and supports needed may include personal care, adult day services, assisted living, skilled nursing care, caregiver supports and other services. The type, duration and array of services needed, the availability of providers and, more fundamentally, the preferences of the individual influence the specific place in which care is delivered and received. The presence or absence of caregivers-family members or friends offering families since assisted living is not traditionally covered by Medicaid or Medicare and less than 100,000 South Carolinians have long-term care insurance.<sup>10</sup> Such high out-of-home costs are helping to drive demand for home and communitybased services (HCBS), which also align with the overwhelming preference of individuals to live independently and, when possible, to age in place in their own homes. Although HCBS include a number of lower cost alternatives, these options may be less well known, require considerable coordination and are still beyond the reach of many in our state.

Due to the high costs of long-term care, publicly funded programs often serve as a safety net not just for the poor but also for middle class seniors who have exhausted their resources. As a result, government covers much of the tab for long-term care through the Medicaid program. Nationally, Medicaid pays for two-thirds of all long-term care, with the majority of that spent on care in nursing facilities.<sup>1</sup> In 2014, the Medicaid program in South Carolina spent over \$500 million dollars on payments to nursing facilities, a figure that has grown over the past five years (even though the number of Medicaid-sponsored days in nursing facilities has declined during the same timeframe).<sup>11</sup>

Nationally, Medicaid pays for **TWO-THIRDS** OF ALL LONG-TERM CARE with the majority of that spent on care in nursing facilities

As the Baby Boom generation moves into their older years, the potential cost of long-term care for a much larger population of South Carolina seniors will be staggering and could severely impact other critical needs and budgetary considerations.

Even for those with effective means of payment and clearly defined needs, accessing and navigating the long-term care system can be challenging. This is especially true given that those who enter the system are often in the midst of crisis. Making critical, life-changing and sometimes life-sustaining decisions with little opportunity to consider options or compare providers seems contrary to logic, but it is done countless times every day by individuals and families across South Carolina who are forced by circumstances to confront the reality that they, a friend or a family member need long-term care. To complicate matters more, information is often limited or inconsistent, and reliable guidance can seem very hard to find. Simply finding answers to critical questions can take more energy than is available. Even good information, once found, does not alleviate all of the problems at hand. Navigating the current system successfully requires obtaining and sharing information in a manner that promotes good, quality care with optimal outcomes, and that is difficult to do without a trusted, experienced guide and a fair amount of determination.

In order to address these critical issues, IMPH convened a taskforce in 2014 to develop actionable recommendations for improving long-term care in our state. The following report reflects their recommendations and offers a guide for improving long-term care in South Carolina. Ultimately, the success of these recommendations rests on all of us...as this is everybody's problem.

#### AN OVERVIEW OF THE CURRENT SYSTEM

South Carolina's current long-term care system has been shaped by decades of policy and funding approachesboth state and federal-that have produced a myriad of programs, initiatives and structures created in response to years of changing needs and demographics. The system is layered and complex, involving multiple agencies and organizations that administer and provide services that are both publicly and privately funded. Notably, no one state agency is charged with overseeing and coordinating all of these services. The six primary **STATE AGENCIES** involved in long-term care are:

- SC Department of Health and Human Services (SCDHHS) administers the state's Medicaid program, which is the largest single payer for LTC needs in the state. Medicaid is required by federal law to provide nursing facility services. In addition, South Carolina operates nine home and community-based waivers that provide services for specific, defined target populations who require a skilled level of care. Other LTC-related services covered by Medicaid include home health and hospice.
- Lieutenant Governor's Office on Aging (LGOA) serves as the State Unit on Aging and thereby oversees the distribution of federal Older Americans Act (OAA) funds throughout the state. These funds provide a variety of home and community-based services and programs for family caregivers. The OAA serves individuals age 60 and over and does not restrict eligibility for most services based on income level, though it does target services to those with the greatest social and economic need. The LGOA leads the state's Aging Network. This network includes ten multi-county Area Agencies on Aging/Aging and Disability Resource Centers that are designated to provide planning and administrative oversight of OAA programs and county-level Councils on Aging that carry out activities, programs and services.
- SC Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN) operates programs for persons with intellectual (or related) disabilities, Autism Spectrum Disorders, and head and/or spinal cord (or similar) disabilities. These services include home and community-based waivers along with institutions known as Intermediate Care Facilities for Individuals with Intellectual Disabilities.
- SC Department of Mental Health (DMH) operates three veterans' nursing facilities and one community nursing facility. It also provides community-based and inpatient behavioral health services to individuals across the state, many of whom need long-term services and supports due to mental illness.
- SC Department of Social Services (DSS) administers the Adult Protective Services Program for vulnerable adults who are at risk of or victims of abuse, neglect or exploitation.
- SC Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) provides regulatory oversight and licensing for long-term care facilities and providers. DHEC also offers health promotion programs through its Division of Health Aging and provides targeted clinical services.

Alongside these publicly funded agencies, many **PRIVATE PROVIDERS**, **NONPROFITS**, **FAITH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND THEIR VOLUNTEERS** provide information, support and services for individuals in need of long-term services and supports across South Carolina. Private providers may operate on a statewide basis or may focus on serving a regional or local market. Such providers may be commercial entities or not-for-profit organizations offering services that are fee-based or even charitable. Of course, the lines of private-sector and public services are often interwoven, as the current system of long-term services and supports in our state is interdependent in many ways. Importantly, the entire system is sustained by thousands of individuals who provide essential care every day to friends, neighbors or family members. Over 770,000 South Carolinians serve as informal, unpaid caregivers on an ongoing basis.<sup>12</sup> Such individuals are vital in preserving the quality of life of their care recipients, just as they are in sustaining the state's overall system of long-term services and supports.

#### **CREATING DIRECTION: IMPROVING LONG-TERM CARE**

The members of the Long-Term Care Taskforce examined our state's current system of long-term services and supports from every angle-respecting that there are many valuable and well-functioning components to the current structure. Throughout 2014, the members of the taskforce met across four committees (Access to Care, Financing and Affordability, Providers and Workforce, and Service Delivery) and numerous subcommittees to review data and information, discuss challenges and opportunities and hear from subject-matter experts. All of that brought rich, substantive debate aimed at creating actionable recommendations for improving long-term care in South Carolina. Those recommendations, which are outlined in this report, specifically address a number of themes that emerged throughout the taskforce process:

- The need for enhanced prevention efforts that support healthy aging;
- The need to promote independent living with choice and dignity;
- The need for improved quality of care and quality of life for care recipients;
- The need for increased supports for caregivers;
- The need for better coordination, structure and efficiency across the system;
- The need for ongoing data collection and analysis to inform policy and improve programs and services;
- The need to promote awareness and preparation among the general public for their own long-term care needs;
- The need for adequate and targeted funding to support a fully functional, long-term care system that meets a growing and diverse need; and
- The need for increased private-sector involvement in addressing the LTC challenge.

The actionable recommendations developed by the LTC Taskforce reflect these themes and provide practical solutions to the problems faced by individuals and families across South Carolina who are in need of adequate, reliable long-term services and supports that provide the most appropriate care in the least restrictive setting. The recommendations of the taskforce are presented in this report across six topical areas. A rationale and action steps are presented along with possible responsible entities in support of each of the recommendations. In their entirety, the recommendations and action steps provide a much-needed guide for improving long-term care in South Carolina.

#### TASKFORCE RECOMMENDATIONS: AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT

The following pages present the Taskforce's recommendations according to the following six topical areas:

- Promoting efficiencies in the system;
- Strengthening the long-term care continuum;
- Ensuring an adequate and trained workforce;
- Protecting vulnerable adults;
- Supporting family caregivers; and
- Promoting choice and independence through education.

As recommendations are presented, a rationale and action steps are provided. Lead entities have also been identified where possible to foster leadership in guiding collaborative implementation. Highlighting organizations and agencies as "lead entities" is intended to promote focused action in these important areas but does not constitute an endorsement by the identified entities or represent any formal obligation on their part. (Although most listed entities have reviewed the recommendations and helped to inform the action steps, the listing of an entity should not be interpreted as a blanket endorsement of any specific recommendation, the overall report or the work of the Taskforce.) While the identified lead entities are critical to bringing the recommendations to life, it is important to note that the recommendations can only be implemented if sufficient resources are made available and a broader network of partners shares in responsibility for their success. It is through such collective action that South Carolina will ultimately achieve needed improvements in long-term care.



#### **PROMOTING EFFICIENCIES IN THE SYSTEM**

#### Background

South Carolina's long-term care (LTC) system lacks overarching administrative structures to coordinate programs and services across agency lines effectively. No single agency oversees all long-term services and supports. Without mechanisms to facilitate interagency communication, data sharing and planning, the system lacks efficiency, and investments made with state and federal funds may not be effectively utilized. Monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of programs and services, as well as identifying and addressing unmet needs, are likewise challenging without the ability to track system-wide issues and trends.

Inefficiencies also arise because the LTC system relies predominantly on fee-for-service models, which often lack a person-centered focus and may not effectively coordinate and integrate primary care, behavioral health and long-term services and supports. In the era of health care reform, the emphasis on value over volume is driving improvements in efficiencies across the spectrum of health care—and long-term care is no exception. Current inefficiencies in the system and poor interagency collaboration adversely affect overall care and the care experience for consumers and families. A more efficient system will help them better navigate and access needed services at the right time, in the right place and for the best cost, improving outcomes and ultimately producing higher levels of consumer satisfaction and engagement.

#### Recommendations

In order to promote efficiencies in the LTC system, the Taskforce developed the following recommendations:

- Require agencies providing long-term services and supports to collaborate in the development of their programs/services and in budgetary planning;
- Coordinate state agency consumer assessment processes to improve consumer experience and state-level data collection and analysis;
- Continue efforts to move the state closer to coordinated and integrated care for individuals in need of Medicaid-sponsored long-term services and supports.

Further detail on the above recommendations is provided in the pages that follow.

# Require agencies providing long-term services and supports to collaborate in the development of their programs/services and in budgetary planning.

#### Rationale

Various state agencies provide long-term services and supports, and each of these has its own systems for service delivery, planning and data collection and analysis. In the past, several formal interagency committees were established to foster better communication among state agencies and ensure coordination around common areas of interest or for specific target populations. Examples of such interagency committees include the Long Term Care Council, which has been inactive for over a decade, and the Human Services Coordinating Council, which was dissolved over a decade ago. Currently, there are several groups that exist to encourage collaboration around particular special interest issues, such as the Adult Protection Coordinating Council. However, there is no high level, interagency committee looking broadly at the populations requiring long-term services and supports, their needs and where/how those needs are being addressed. Other areas in human services do have such an interagency committee in place; the structure of the South Carolina Joint Council on Children and Adolescents, including its composition and staffing, provides a good model.

Outside of cabinet agencies, there is no formal process for coordinating budget requests among various state agencies that provide long-term services and supports. In addition, different agencies are assigned to different committees within the General Assembly, creating additional challenges in coordinating requests. These factors make it difficult for each agency to be informed about other budget requests that could impact its own mission and its purchase and/or delivery of services. Budget collaboration among these agencies could avoid duplication of effort and present opportunities for coordinating budgetary requests across agency lines. For the health and social service agencies that rely on Medicaid funding, a well-coordinated appropriations request could benefit not only the individual agencies and their consumers but also could aid legislators in their decision making.

#### **Action Steps**

Lead entities–South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office (RFA)/Budget Development and all other major-impacted state agencies: SC Department of Health and Human Services (SCDHHS), Lieutenant Governor's Office on Aging (LGOA), Department of Mental Health (DMH), Department of Social Services (DSS), Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN) and Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC)

The Taskforce recommends:

- Establishing a collaborative budget submission process (with the support and guidance of the General Assembly and the Governor's Office) for the following state agencies pertaining to their provision of long-term services and supports: SCDHHS, LGOA, DMH, DSS, DDSN and DHEC;
- Re-establishing an interagency council, such as the LTC Council.

## Coordinate state agency consumer assessment processes to improve consumer experience and state-level data collection and analysis.

#### Rationale

State agencies and service providers use assessment instruments to collect consumer demographics and other information (e.g., medical, functional, financial, caregiver/social support, living environment) to determine program eligibility, assess service needs and preferences and monitor quality. Within South Carolina's long-term care system, each agency has developed its own assessment tools, often using data elements mandated by funders. Agencies have invested in automating these tools, which are an integral part of their client management and/or decision support systems. However, these assessment systems are not currently compatible with one another and information cannot be easily shared among agencies. Information sharing in an efficient way is possible without requiring agencies to abandon their existing tools and automated systems. Having a comprehensive system to share consumer assessment information among key agencies has the potential to create a more efficient and seamless experience for consumers and families as well as reduce administrative burden. Furthermore, such a system would enable the state to capture standardized data that would aid in projecting need, planning programs and conducting research and evaluation.

#### Action steps

Lead entities: RFA/Health and Demographics, SCDHHS, LGOA and other agencies

The RFA/Health and Demographics, SCDHHS and the LGOA should, in conjunction with DDSN, DSS and DMH:

- Review existing assessment tools for consumers and family caregivers that have been validated and are considered best practices;
- Determine common elements that are (or should be) collected across agencies to become the core of a shared assessment data set;
- Make recommendations (based on best practices and common elements) about software development and hosting, ongoing user training and options for periodic updates;
- Address confidentiality and HIPAA-related issues about sharing health information.

Note: SCDHHS has partnered with RFA on a similar effort related to Healthy Connections Prime. Through this work, providers can use their individual assessments and RFA can pull elements into a shared data set.

Continue efforts to move the state closer to coordinated and integrated care for individuals in need of Medicaid-sponsored long-term services and supports.

#### Rationale

SCDHHS estimates that over 85% of individuals receiving long-term services and supports (LTSS) in South Carolina are dually eligible for both Medicare and Medicaid.<sup>13</sup> Each of these two distinct federal programs has its own enrollment policies and package of benefits. Therefore, many people who are dually eligible often "receive fragmented and uncoordinated care."<sup>14</sup> Faced with this expensive problem, a growing number of states are turning to managed LTSS models to integrate "care and services into a single program or coordinated delivery system" that will improve the quality of care and lower costs for this high-need population.<sup>14</sup> (Note: Individuals who are <u>not</u> dually eligible could also benefit from coordinated options that would integrate LTSS, primary care and behavioral health. These individuals receiving LTSS are generally people under age 65 who are awaiting eligibility for Medicare disability.)

Better coordination and integration of all care for consumers receiving Medicaid-sponsored LTSS through a managed delivery approach has the potential to:

- Create a more seamless, holistic experience for consumers;
- Strengthen the interplay between LTSS, primary care and behavioral health services;
- Provide access to overall care coordination;
- Provide more appropriate utilization of health care options, especially home and communitybased services (HCBS), and support transitions between care settings;
- · Create cost savings and more innovative forms of reimbursement for providers.

To date, South Carolina has developed limited experience with managed LTSS models through the Program for All-Inclusive Care of the Elderly (PACE). A nationally-recognized best practice, the PACE model integrates Medicare and Medicaid funding and uses a multidisciplinary team based in an adult day health center to coordinate care. South Carolina has two PACE programs that serve a total of approximately 500 adults over the age of 55 in Richland, Lexington, Bamberg, Orangeburg and Calhoun counties with expansion in the Upstate planned for 2016. South Carolina also has gained experience with managed LTSS models through the recent launch of Healthy Connections Prime (for those dually eligible for Medicare and Medicaid). It blends Medicare and Medicaid funding and contracts with Managed Care Organizations (MCOs), which assume financial risk. Healthy Connections Prime uses a multidisciplinary team approach in its model of care and provides extensive, boots-on-the-ground care coordination. It is open to people statewide over the age of 65 who are dually eligible for Medicaid and non-institutionalized (though certain other specified populations are ineligible). Both PACE and Healthy Connections Prime seek to fully integrate LTSS, primary care and behavioral health services–and these programs have given SCDHHS and participating providers and MCOs the opportunity to develop capacity in offering LTSS in a managed care environment.

In order to expand South Carolina's use of managed care models, it will be important to continue to work closely with institutional and HCBS providers across the state because many still have limited experience in providing services in a coordinated and integrated fashion and contracting with MCOs. While many Medicaid MCOs have extensive out-of-state experience with managed LTSS, it will still be important to work closely with them as they bring their experiences to bear in South Carolina. Ensuring adequate oversight, quality assurance processes and consumer protections are also critical to the success of managed LTSS models.

#### Action steps

#### Lead entity - SCDHHS

SCDHHS should:

- Continue to identify high-cost populations and services that are carved out of Medicaid managed care and determine methods to include them in coordinated and integrated models;
- Continue provider education efforts to increase understanding about the tenets and requirements of managed care;
- Conduct a formal review of other states' initiatives related to serving dually eligible individuals and use findings to inform efforts for possible expansion and/or replication to other target populations in South Carolina;
- Propose methods to link reimbursement to quality of care, using best practices for such areas as performance models and provider incentives.

#### STRENGTHENING THE LONG-TERM CARE CONTINUUM

#### Background

The long-term care (LTC) continuum should provide a full spectrum of services and supports to ensure that the needs and preferences of individuals and families can be met with high quality care and in a cost-effective manner. The overall system should be structured in such a way that people can move appropriately along this continuum of services as their conditions either improve or decline. Available services should include in-home services, community-based options and institutional care, as well as supportive services such as case management, information and referral, home modification programs and more. Needs for long-term services and supports (LTSS) vary greatly–from the need for minimal supportive services to more complex needs requiring ongoing medical assistance or supervision. The continuum should provide options for all levels of need, including preventive services that can delay more costly, restrictive placements. South Carolina's current LTC system is inadequately funded to ensure access to a robust continuum of long-term services and supports, and the state's programs and infrastructure need targeted investments to meet greater demand as the population needing these services expands.<sup>i</sup>

South Carolina has built its LTC continuum primarily around the Medicaid program, which requires that states offer services to eligible individuals who need an institutional level of care in nursing facilities. States can also apply for waivers to serve individuals in home and community-based settings. Nationally, states are increasingly taking advantage of waiver options to provide Medicaid-sponsored long-term services and supports in home and community-based settings.<sup>15, 16</sup> Since the statewide implementation of the Community Long Term Care program in 1984, South Carolina's Medicaid program has also grown its home and community-based service (HCBS) options and now serves more individuals through HCBS waivers than in institutions. HCBS are being offered across the country to meet the needs and preferences of individuals and their families to live as independently as possible. Research also indicates that in some cases these services may be more cost-effective and could prevent or delay moves to a more costly, institutional setting.<sup>17</sup> Additionally, states must also ensure that they are providing robust HCBS options to comply with the 1999 US Supreme Court ruling known as the Olmstead decision<sup>iii</sup> and the HCBS Rule published in 2014 by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS).<sup>iiii</sup> Both of these mandate that states have adequate HCBS alternatives (to institutional care) to ensure community integration. As South Carolina continues to develop its LTC continuum, it is imperative that targeted investments be made to ensure the sustainability of HCBS options currently provided, as well as to address future growth.

Additional information on these issues can be found in "Strategic Vision/Plan for Rebalancing Long Term Care," a report prepared by The Lucas Group for SCDHHS and released in May 2012. The report included detailed information on demographic trends, Medicaid spending trends, the history of Medicaid-sponsored LTC and challenges facing the LTC system and infrastructure. It outlined recommendations addressing such areas as managed care, care coordination, service capacity, assessment processes and more.

"The United States Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division, describes the landmark decision in the Olmstead v. L.C. ruling as requiring "states to eliminate unnecessary segregation of persons with disabilities and to ensure that persons with disabilities receive services in the most integrated setting appropriate to their needs." This ruling, which mandates community integration and the subsequent federal enforcement efforts, has broad-reaching impacts for the delivery of long-term services and supports. For more information, see http://www.ada.gov/olmstead/.

According to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, the HCBS Rule is meant to ensure that individuals receiving HCBS through Medicaid authorities "have full access to benefits of community living and the opportunity to receive services in the most integrated setting appropriate." The requirements outlined in the rule seek to optimize autonomy and facilitate individual choice regarding services and supports, and emphasize person-centered planning and conflict-free case management (i.e., the separation of service coordination and service provision). It outlines required qualities to distinguish home and community-based settings (e.g., residential settings, day programs, supportive work environments) from institutional settings. SCDHHS submitted a Statewide Transition Plan in February 2015 outlining steps to be undertaken to become compliant with this rule. More information on the rule and South Carolina's Transition Plan can be found at https://msp.scdhhs.gov/hcbs/. Medicaid HCBS waivers allow states to provide services in home and community-based settings for individuals who meet an institutional level of care requirement. With this requirement, it can be difficult for individuals in South Carolina who have lower level of care needs to access publicly funded services. Additionally, individuals who do not meet Medicaid's financial eligibility requirements have limited options if they cannot pay privately for the assistance they need.

The Lieutenant Governor's Office on Aging (LGOA) is an important resource for older adults who do not meet Medicaid's financial or medical eligibility. The LGOA oversees the distribution of federal Older American Act (OAA) funds throughout the state that provide a range of home and community-based services, including home-delivered and congregate meals, senior centers and other services that are meant to help older adults who want to age in their own homes and communities. The OAA serves individuals age 60 and older and does not restrict eligibility for most services based on income level, though services are targeted to those with the greatest social and economic need. Funds provided through the OAA are meant to attract other sources of funding, but they are much more limited than those that can be accessed through Medicaid. Efforts to enhance offerings through the LGOA are vital in light of the changing needs and demographics of South Carolina's population.

Most of the same kinds of services provided through the publicly-funded options can be purchased privately as well. Whether accessing these services via public or private resources, individuals and families often face challenges in navigating the system. Alongside ensuring that the continuum includes a robust array of services, South Carolina must ensure that it includes ways to help people access those services.

#### Recommendations

In order to strengthen the LTC continuum, the Taskforce developed the following recommendations:

- Expand support for Medicaid-sponsored LTSS over the next five years to strengthen and expand HCBS as part of a full spectrum of care options;
- Expand access to HCBS to meet the needs of specific target populations who do not qualify for current service options;
- Enhance the mission of the LGOA and its capacity to coordinate with the Area Agencies on Aging/Aging and Disability Resource Centers and service providers. As a part of this effort, conduct a review to determine the optimal organizational placement of the LGOA;
- Ensure access to a highly qualified and trained workforce of individuals who coordinate and manage care.

Further detail on the above recommendations is provided in the pages that follow.

Expand support for Medicaid-sponsored long-term services and supports over the next five years to strengthen and expand home and community-based services as part of a full spectrum of care options.

#### Rationale

LTSS should be flexible and provide consumers with meaningful choice, so that they get the right service, in the right place, at the right time and for the best cost. South Carolina's current LTC system is inadequately funded to support a full range of flexible HCBS to meet the real demand. Targeted investments are needed to provide meaningful HCBS alternatives that delay or prevent more costly institutional care. These investments should be considered as a top priority for the state. HCBS growth should be coupled with assurances for an adequate nursing home capacity that meets the real demand.

#### Action steps

Lead entity-SCDHHS

- SCDHHS, with stakeholder input, should develop a five-year funding request strategy to quantify the following areas of HCBS investment for the waivers operated through the Community Long Term Care (CLTC) program:
  - Growth in census–Annualizing recent waiver slot increases and sustaining continued growth;
  - Service levels-Increasing the amount of waivered services authorized based on best practices and evidence-based information;
  - Reimbursement rates-Increasing provider reimbursements based on a targeted plan that addresses the greatest disparities in rates and is based upon Southeastern averages;
  - New services-Adding in-home respite and caregiver education as waiver services;
  - Infrastructure supports-Establishing a means of addressing key infrastructure resources that support waiver programs, including registered nurses for assessments and level of care determinations, state-level case managers, staff conducting financial eligibility determinations and enhancements to automated client management and provider tracking systems (Phoenix/Care Call).
  - An effort similar to the above needs to be undertaken for all existing and future waivers and related HCBS operated by SCDHHS.
  - SCDHHS, with stakeholder input, should develop a five-year funding request strategy to quantify the need for future investments in nursing facility services.

A global approach to budget planning and management should be employed by SCDHHS as a tool to be strategic, leverage good outcomes and support the elements of this recommendation.

## Expand access to home and community-based services to meet the needs of specific target populations who do not qualify for current service options.

#### Rationale

The state's continuum of HCBS is funded primarily through Medicaid and the OAA. Medicaid HCBS waivers, operated by SCDHHS and the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN), serve only those individuals who meet both the Medicaid institutional level of care and financial requirements. (SCDHHS's new Healthy Connections Prime program provides an additional alternative by offering HCBS to people who do not require institutional level of care but who may need enhanced services following a hospitalization or may have other short-term needs such as temporary absence of a caregiver.) While OAA services are not restricted based on income level, services are generally targeted to those consumers who do not meet Medicaid qualifications and thus have become a safety net for this population.

While the services outlined above do meet the needs of many across South Carolina, there are target groups that could benefit from the availability of expanded service options within the state's LTC continuum of care, including:

- Individuals who do not meet the current medical necessity or nursing facility level of care requirements for Medicaid-sponsored LTSS;<sup>iv</sup>
- Individuals who do not meet financial eligibility requirements for Medicaid-sponsored LTSS;
- Individuals who were receiving Medicaid-sponsored LTSS but whose conditions have improved such that they no longer meet the nursing facility level of care. (Note: individuals who meet nursing level of care criteria have HCBS options via Medicaid waivers. If their conditions improve such that they do not meet these criteria, they no longer have access to any waiver services, even though they might need some level of continued support to remain as independent, stable and functional as possible.)

Expanding the availability of options for those who do not qualify for current services could prevent or delay the need for more costly out-of-home services and provide assistance during transitions between care settings. These HCBS must be supported by an infrastructure that includes intake, assessment, eligibility, service planning, case management and monitoring functions.

#### Action steps

Lead entities-SCDHHS and LGOA

SCDHHS should:

- Consider new ways to support consumers who need enhanced levels of service on a short-term basis during transitions;
- Explore options with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services to modify the Medicaid nursing facility level of care to be less restrictive for HCBS than for nursing facility services;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>w</sup>Examples illustrating the kinds of people who are described here include: people who need supervision and cueing in the performance of daily tasks (perhaps because of cognitive impairments due to dementia or a brain injury) but do not yet have qualifying functional deficits required to meet Medicaid level of care criteria.

- Consider expanding the use of the 1915(i) state plan option targeting consumers who may not qualify currently for one of the state's HCBS waivers;
- Conduct a cost-benefit analysis of offering personal care as a state plan option;
- Conduct a cost-benefit analysis of expanding the Optional State Supplementation program to target people in need of HCBS options but who want to reside in a less restrictive setting than a CRCF.

The LGOA should develop plans that complement the SCDHHS actions outlined above.

In considering these new programs and services, the agencies should share and utilize data they have collected regarding unmet needs and service gaps.

Enhance the mission of the Lieutenant Governor's Office on Aging (LGOA) and its capacity to coordinate with the Area Agencies on Aging/Aging and Disability Resource Centers and service providers. As a part of this effort, conduct a review to determine the optimal organizational placement of the LGOA.

#### Rationale

The LGOA is designated as South Carolina's State Unit on Aging, administering federal OAA funds and leading the state's Aging Network. This network includes ten multi-county Area Agencies on Aging/Aging and Disability Resource Centers (AAAs/ADRCs) that are designated to provide planning and administrative oversight of OAA programs and county-level Councils on Aging that carry out activities, programs and services. OAA programs, which serve individuals age 60 and older, include home-delivered and group meals, transportation, programs for caregivers, in-home care, information/referral and more. (See Appendix B for a more comprehensive list of services funded via the OAA and provided in South Carolina by the LGOA and Aging Network.) These are crucial services that can assist people to live as independently as possible in their homes and communities. The programs are not restricted based on income level, though they are targeted to those who have the greatest social and economic need." In addition to OAA responsibilities, the LGOA also performs other mandated state functions, such as operating extra LTC Ombudsman activities, administering the SC Geriatric Loan Forgiveness program and housing the Alzheimer's Resource Coordination Center. With the expected growth in the older adult population, South Carolina needs to ensure that this agency is effectively positioned to provide strong leadership to meet this growing demand.

#### Exploring changes in programs/services

Facing an unprecedented growth in the aging population, it is important to undertake a review of current programs and services—and to explore what is vital to continue and what new offerings need to be developed. The Taskforce identified several priorities that need to be considered for enhancement, including preventive services (see Recommendation #22), consumer education (see Recommendation #24), family caregiver programs (see Recommendation #19) and case management activities (see Recommendation #7). While the Aging Network currently offers each of these types of services, the Taskforce acknowledges that South Carolina must enhance the quantity, quality and depth of these services to meet coming demand.

#### Organizational placement

Over the last 25 years, the Office on Aging has had four different organizational configurations as a free-standing state agency, a division in the Office of the Governor, a division in the SC Department of Health and Human Services and a division of the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. Currently, South Carolina is the only state where the State Unit on Aging is part of the Lieutenant Governor's Office. With the change in the election processes in 2018 requiring the governor and lieutenant governor to run on the same ticket, the political distinctions of the current structure will change. When addressing organizational placement, issues related to the stability and visibility of the agency, infrastructure and communications both within the agency and throughout the Aging Network should be considered.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>v</sup> Individuals who are age 60 and older are eligible for OAA services. The OAA does stipulate that states should target services to older individuals with the greatest economic and social needs, with particular attention to low-income older individuals (including low-income minority older individuals), older individuals with limited English proficiency and older individuals residing in rural areas.

#### **Action steps**

Lead entities-LGOA with key outside stakeholders

In an effort to achieve this recommendation, the following critical issues related to strengthening the LGOA should be addressed:

- Service enhancements in the areas of prevention, family caregiver programs, consumer education and case management;
- Structure of the Aging Network and interface among the state, regional and county levels;
- Connectivity with other agencies, particularly with SCDHHS, DMH, DSS and DDSN;
- Organizational placement that will maximize the agency's capacity, visibility and stability.

In addition, to address the fiscal viability and stability of the LGOA so that it can effectively achieve its mission:

- The Taskforce recommends that the General Assembly:
  - Allocate an adequate and recurring source of state general funds;
  - Increase funding options to provide HCBS to target populations not served via Medicaid (see Recommendation #5);
- The LGOA should:
  - Promote the ElderCare Trust Fund in order to increase revenues that support innovative programs helping older adults remain in their homes and communities.

## Ensure access to a highly qualified and trained workforce of individuals who coordinate and manage care.

#### Rationale

Given the complexity of the LTC system, consumers and families of all income levels often need help navigating the continuum of care. The extent of the help that they need could range from short-term information and referral or options counseling to more intensive help during care transitions or on an ongoing basis. Consumers and families may be confused about what in-home options are available and how those contrast to the type of care offered in assisted living or nursing facilities. They may be overwhelmed when making critical decisions, especially during a crisis or when time constraints impact living arrangements or caregiver support. Individuals who provide services to help these consumers and families understand the full range of options available and how to access services in the least restrictive settings may include case managers, service coordinators, care coordinators, discharge planners and care managers. Specific functions provided by these professionals vary from setting to setting but generally include some degree of assessment, care plan development, referral and monitoring. Responsibilities could also encompass service authorization, utilization review, facilitation of self-direction and ensuring effective coordination and communication among providers, family caregivers and other informal sources of support.

In South Carolina, access to case management services is largely dictated by funding source. Depending upon their needs, Medicaid consumers can utilize targeted case management services, waiver case management services or care coordination services if enrolled in a managed care program. Limited case management services are also available through the OAA funds administered by the LGOA. Medicare has recently implemented policies increasing access to care coordination services as well, recognizing that poor coordination can lead to poor outcomes and high costs. Many of these efforts have focused heavily on providing services during care transitions to prevent hospital readmissions. Outside of these publicly funded programs/options, individual consumers and families may access case management services by hiring a private geriatric or disability care manager or, in some cases, via private insurance (e.g., long-term care insurance), but these options are much more limited. Requirements for case management, as well as training and qualifications for individuals providing these services, vary depending on funding source, leading to inconsistencies in services provided.

#### Action steps

Lead entities–SCDHHS, LGOA, USC Arnold School of Public Health's Office for the Study of Aging (OSA), LTC Workforce Development Consortium

- In order to support a full range of case management/care coordination services to address all levels of consumer need:
  - SCDHHS and LGOA should ensure that case management options are fully utilized when appropriate;
  - The LTC Workforce Development Consortium (see Recommendation #8) will convene
    a workgroup comprised of SCDHHS and other state agencies, the SC Hospital
    Association, managed care organizations, Blue Cross/Blue Shield, the SC Primary
    Health Care Association, SC Office of Rural Health and other relevant stakeholders to

expand ways to bill these services for non-Medicaid populations;

- LGOA should develop a plan to expand case management to non-Medicaid populations and an outreach strategy to reach individuals who could benefit from these services.
- OSA, with input from colleges/universities and relevant state agencies/organizations, should develop comprehensive training modules for case managers and care coordinators. These could be developed in part by modifying and building on those modules that have been developed for use in Healthy Connections Prime. The target audience for these modules would initially be case managers and care coordinators through Medicaid and the Aging Network. Others who could benefit from these modules include hospital discharge planners (e.g., American Case Management Association members) and geriatric case managers. The modules should address the following:
  - The full array of options within the LTC continuum in South Carolina and how to guide consumers in navigating these options and in making successful care transitions;
  - Ways to utilize person-centered models in maximizing consumer input and autonomy in planning for and directing service needs.
- SCDHHS should continue and expand its efforts to promote patient-centered medical homes, as they can play a role in care coordination. It will be important that staff at these patientcentered medical homes have access to information and referral resources and/or training. Other key stakeholder groups focused on patient-centered medical homes should be engaged in this effort related to enhancing care coordination.

In addition to the recommendations above, the Taskforce acknowledges that SCDHHS has developed a transition plan to come into compliance with the federal conflict-free case management requirement under the CMS Final Rule on HCBS. The applicability and value of this requirement (i.e., conflict-free case management) should be considered for other non-Medicaid, publicly-funded case management.

#### **ENSURING AN ADEQUATE AND TRAINED WORKFORCE**

#### Background

The long-term care (LTC) workforce is comprised of a range of professions and occupations-including licensed professionals such as doctors, nurses, social workers, case managers and allied health professionals as well as unlicensed direct care workers (DCWs)-who work in a variety of settings: institutional, community-based and in-home. Projected shortages in the LTC workforce and challenges of building the workforce to meet growing demand represent serious concerns nationally and are vital issues in South Carolina as well.<sup>18, 19, 20</sup> As South Carolina faces an unprecedented growth in the population of individuals who need long-term services and supports (LTSS), the workforce must expand to meet the increasing demand, and problems that plague it must be addressed, including:

- The need for better training-As those who require LTSS grow in number and their needs become more medically complex, the skill level and training of the LTC workforce must expand. South Carolina will need more people trained as specialists in LTC and will need to ensure that personnel and professionals across the workforce receive training in both LTC competencies and geriatric content.
- Problems of recruitment and retention-Across the range of the professions and occupations that comprise the LTC workforce, recruitment and retention problems seriously compromise the availability and stability of the workforce. Key issues affecting recruitment and retention include financial disincentives, poor work environments and the emotionally draining and often physically demanding nature of the work.<sup>21</sup>

Additionally, in order to meet the needs and preferences of consumers and their families, efforts must be undertaken to increase the appeal of working in the long-term care system, raising the profile of the work through increased salaries, career advancement, recognition and appreciation.

#### Recommendations

In order to ensure an adequate and trained workforce, the Taskforce developed the following recommendations:

- Establish a Long-Term Care Workforce Development Consortium to ensure the development of a sufficient workforce of health care professionals and unlicensed workers with competencies in LTSS;
- Increase the presence and capacity of nurses in the long-term care workforce;
- Seek ways to increase compensation for DCWs in home and community-based settings and enhance reimbursement rates for HCBS providers who employ DCWs;
- Establish the infrastructure for a comprehensive statewide training program for DCWs in home and community-based settings that will improve outcomes for consumers;
- Develop a comprehensive DCW Registry to be used as a resource for consumers, family caregivers and providers;
- Enable registered nurses to delegate specific nursing tasks to unlicensed DCWs with sufficient training and demonstrated competencies, subject to consumer protections.

Further detail on the above recommendations is provided in the pages that follow.

Establish a Long-Term Care Workforce Development Consortium to ensure the development of a sufficient workforce of health care professionals and unlicensed workers with competencies in long-term services and supports.

#### Rationale

The number of specialists in geriatrics and LTC is extremely limited and health care professionals trained as generalists often lack experience and training in treating older adults and people with disabilities. As the LTC population across South Carolina increases, these problems will become more pronounced. Therefore, South Carolina needs to undertake deliberate and ongoing workforce planning. Currently, there is no one entity studying or addressing the LTC workforce as a whole. A statewide entity, comprised of key stakeholders, should be established to provide leadership in addressing issues related to the availability and competency of the LTC workforce–both licensed professionals and unlicensed workers. (The LTC Workforce Development Consortium would be valuable in leading efforts related to other recommendations listed in this workforce section.)

#### Licensed Professionals

Major goals for the Consortium related to licensed professionals should include: 1) increasing the number of professionals specializing in long-term care, and 2) ensuring that all health care professionals have foundational competencies in long-term care services. The following activities could address these goals:

- Work with colleges and universities to develop specialized LTSS tracks and certifications in their health professions programs;
- Work with colleges and universities to infuse foundational LTSS competencies across health sciences curricula;
- Develop continuing education opportunities that provide foundational competencies or specialized certificates in LTSS;
- Develop the plans for increasing financial incentives such as loan forgiveness programs and scholarships to encourage students and professionals to pursue specialized tracks in LTSS.

While opportunities such as these do exist at various colleges and universities across the state, a more coordinated, deliberate effort to expand them is needed.

#### Unlicensed Workforce

Another critical goal for the Consortium to address should be to ensure a stable, adequately trained and accessible direct care workforce. The Consortium should work with vocational schools and technical colleges, health care and LTSS providers and other stakeholders throughout the state to address key areas related to this workforce, including improving/standardizing training and competency verification, raising awareness about the importance of these workers and providing technical assistance related to models of care that integrate DCWs.

#### **Overarching Areas**

In support of the goals outlined above, the Consortium will need to:

- Survey the field, including the number and distribution of current professionals and unlicensed workers as well as training and educational requirements/offerings;
- Conduct an analysis of the workforce, including identification of gaps and unmet needs across the workforce and priority areas that need to be addressed;
- Develop strategies to address identified workforce needs and priorities as well as a plan to track and evaluate the effectiveness of these strategies;
- Disseminate current research on evidence-based practices related to LTC workforce issues and identify or create training materials, as needed.

#### **Action steps**

Lead entities-USC Arnold School of Public Health's Office for the Study of Aging (OSA) with representatives from key stakeholder groups

The OSA will convene stakeholders to develop the mission and objectives of the LTC Workforce Development Consortium. The Consortium should have recurring funding and adequate staff, and membership from key stakeholder agencies, organizations, educational institutions and professional associations.

### Increase the presence and capacity of nurses in the long-term care workforce.

#### Rationale

Nurses fill many critical roles in the LTC system in a variety of settings and agencies, providing handson care and care coordination/assessment, educating consumers and family caregivers, serving as supervisors for other direct care staff and functioning as policymakers and advisors. While the need for nurses<sup>vi</sup> in LTSS will continue to increase due in large part to the unprecedented growth in the size of our older adult population and the fact that people are living longer with more complex medical needs, the LTSS nursing workforce is often challenged by poor retention rates and high turnover. The obstacles in recruitment and retention of LTSS nurses are related to pervasive negative perceptions of the field, inadequate staffing levels and poorer pay than that which can be secured by working in hospitals or other clinical settings. The shortage of LTSS nurses and high turnover rates are particularly problematic given that research has shown improved outcomes for consumers when nurses are involved in long-term care.<sup>22</sup>

Better integration of LTSS issues into academic coursework and clinical training opportunities is one crucial strategy to strengthen the nursing presence in LTSS. Partnerships between nursing programs and long-term care agencies and providers must be built and strengthened "to foster adequate preparation of graduates for practice in LTSS and to foster accelerated implementation of new knowledge into LTC."<sup>23</sup> Furthermore, efforts must be undertaken to enhance education and training in issues particularly relevant to LTSS work–e.g., supervisory skills, increasingly complex medical needs in LTC settings, geriatric care and issues related to working with people with disabilities. In "Retooling for an Aging America," the Institute of Medicine (which is to be known as the National Academy of Medicine effective July 1, 2015) reported that, nationally, less than 1% of RNs and only 3% of advanced practice registered nurses (APRNs) are certified in geriatrics.<sup>21</sup> Furthermore, only one-third of the nation's baccalaureate nursing programs required a course focused on geriatrics.<sup>21</sup> Even nurses who are not directly pursuing employment in LTSS need adequate preparation in and exposure to the complexities of geriatric care because older adults are high volume users of health care services and their numbers are growing.

#### Action steps

Lead entities–LTC Workforce Development Consortium with representatives from key stakeholder groups, particularly nursing programs and professional associations (e.g., SC Nurses Association and SC Board of Nursing)

The LTC Workforce Development Consortium (see Recommendation #8) and representatives from key stakeholder groups should spearhead efforts to:

- Recommend that educational institutions with nursing programs have at least one certified gerontological nursing faculty with long-term care experience to lead geriatric courses and serve as a role model for students;
- Recommend that educational institutions with nursing programs incorporate long-term care settings in clinical experiences beyond the basic foundations course (i.e., community health

<sup>&</sup>quot;Nurses of all professional levels work in the long-term care system and perform duties commensurate with their scopes of practice. Given the increasing acuity levels of individuals receiving long-term services and supports and the emphasis on avoiding unnecessary hospitalizations, it will be particularly important to increase the presence of registered nurses in the LTC system.

practicum opportunities, chronic illness/gerontology course, leadership, population-based care and care coordination/case management);

- Refine curriculum components and preceptor education/development in ways that effectively recruit and integrate students to long-term care settings;
- Explore certificate options and/or other strategies for Family Nurse Practitioner and Acute Care Geriatric Nurse Practitioner programs to enhance LTC training and enhanced utilization as providers in LTC settings;
- Seek funds to conduct and evaluate pilot projects that will foster partnerships between LTC agencies/providers and educational institutions to encourage reciprocal dialogue and learning and increase student recruitment and employment.

#### Further Background on the Direct Care Workforce

The Taskforce decided to make the direct care workforce a particular focus because direct care workers (DCWs) play such a primary role in providing long-term services and supports (LTSS) and often have less-than-adequate support and limited training requirements, particularly in home and community-based settings (HCBS). The following information is meant to provide an introduction to the direct care workforce and is followed by four specific recommendations that were developed to ensure a stable, adequately trained and accessible workforce of DCWs.

#### Who are DCWs and Why are They Important?

DCWs-also known as unlicensed assistive personnel or paraprofessionals-provide 70 to 80% of the hands-on care in the LTC system.<sup>24</sup> The direct care workforce is comprised of a variety of occupations such as nursing assistants, home health aides and personal care aides that serve older adults and people with disabilities in institutional, community and residential settings. These workers help to meet some of the most basic human needs, providing assistance with essential tasks that most take for granted, such as eating, dressing, bathing, toileting and basic housekeeping. They provide companionship and comfort in the face of challenging and potentially isolating circumstances. Their assistance often provides much-needed hours of respite to family caregivers. Working on the frontlines of the system, DCWs are critical to ensuring quality care and maintaining the dignity and, to the extent possible, the independence of people who rely on LTSS.

The DCW workforce in South Carolina accounted for approximately 40,000 jobs in 2011, though the actual number is likely considerably higher because private-pay data is difficult to quantify.<sup>25</sup> Many DCWs are employed directly by consumers and are not accounted for in formal surveys.

#### Problems of Recruitment, Retention and Turnover

DCWs can find their work highly rewarding, but they also face difficulties that make recruitment and retention a persistent challenge. Despite how critical their assistance and care is to the lives of consumers and their families, this workforce is undervalued, not well compensated and receives inconsistent, inadequate training. The work they perform is emotionally draining and difficult, often requiring caring for individuals with deteriorating conditions and/or challenging behaviors. It is also physically demanding. Compared to other occupations, DCWs working in nursing homes, for instance, have one of the highest rates of workplace injury.<sup>21</sup> Within the current system, DCWs often lack opportunities for job advancement and for providing input into care planning. All of these factors contribute to high rates of turnover, which may impact quality of care as well as the financial health of providers because of costs associated with constant recruitment and training.<sup>21</sup> Ultimately, these problems translate into a higher cost for the state because public money pays for a significant share of these services.

Seek ways to increase compensation for direct care workers (DCWs) in home and community-based settings and enhance reimbursement rates for HCBS providers who employ DCWs.

### Rationale

Poor compensation is a significant obstacle to recruiting and retaining a high-quality direct care workforce. Direct care workers, who are performing physically taxing and emotionally draining work, often receive low wages. The problem of poor pay is particularly pronounced for workers providing services in home and community-based settings; aides working in home care were profiled by *Forbes* magazine as one of the 25 worst-paying jobs in America.<sup>26</sup> The average hourly wage of personal care aides and home health aides in South Carolina in 2013 was \$9.36 and \$9.23, respectively.<sup>25</sup> Furthermore, trends in pay are flat, primarily because government reimbursement increases to agencies employing these workers have been limited. Even when increases have occurred, they may have been directed toward rising administrative costs/overhead and not to increased worker compensation. Alongside poor wages, DCWs often are only scheduled to work part-time with limited, unpredictable hours and have little access to employee benefits such as health insurance, retirement benefits and sick leave; many are dependent upon public assistance.<sup>21</sup> Often, these workers must provide their own transportation or are dependent on public transportation to reach their clients in various settings that can be far apart. Increasing wages for this segment of the workforce is crucial in order to offset employment related expenses, decrease instability and turnover and meet the growing demand.

### Action steps

Lead entities–SC Department of Health and Human Services (SCDHHS), Lieutenant Governor's Office on Aging (LGOA), Department of Mental Health (DMH) and Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN)

- As the major funder of HCBS, the SCDHHS should seek budget requests to increase reimbursement rates over a 5-year period starting in FY2016-17. It is crucial that these financial investments are implemented in such a way as to ensure that the money directly benefits the DCWs through such means as hourly wage increases, improved fringe benefits or enhanced travel reimbursement.
- State agencies (SCDHHS, LGOA, DMH and DDSN) should utilize their contractual requirements with providers, as well as their own policies and procedures, to include provisions for financial incentives or shared savings that can be redirected for the benefit of DCWs. To accomplish this, standardized means for collecting data on cost-savings and improved outcomes should be developed.
- The LTC Workforce Development Consortium (see Recommendation #8) should work with provider associations to enhance education and technical assistance to HCBS providers regarding ways to stabilize their business models and diversify their funding streams, thereby creating greater opportunities for them to pay more competitive wages.

Establish the infrastructure for a comprehensive, statewide training program for direct care workers in home and community-based settings that will improve outcomes for consumers.

### Rationale

The work that DCWs are called upon to do is important, challenging and frequently complex, yet the training they receive is often nonexistent or insufficient. Training for DCWs in South Carolina is not standardized and requirements vary across care settings and occupational categories as well as by funding source. Currently, DCWs who are certified as nursing assistants (CNAs) or home health aides have the most rigorous and defined training, due to federal training requirements set by Medicare and Medicaid. There are no such federal training standards for other DCWs working in HCBSs and that contributes to inconsistencies in training and variations in quality of care. In its landmark report "Retooling for an Aging America," the Institute of Medicine recommends that states should "establish minimum training requirements for personal-care aides."<sup>21</sup> With increasing numbers of individuals being served in home and community-based settings, these workers need adequate training because they may have less supervision in these settings, must work more independently and are increasingly dealing with more complex care needs.

Developing and implementing a statewide, competency-based training program in South Carolina for DCWs in HCBS would help improve the consistency and quality of care. Training has been linked positively to higher job satisfaction, improved retention rates and decreases in costly turnover.<sup>21</sup> All of these, in turn, would lead to better outcomes for consumers. A comprehensive, statewide program would also improve system efficiency by coordinating and standardizing multiple training sources and infrastructures that already exist, streamlining training processes for public and private agencies as well as for DCWs themselves.

### Actions steps

Lead entity-LTC Workforce Development Consortium

The LTC Workforce Development Consortium (see Recommendation #8) should lead the effort to establish the training and associated infrastructure, which should:

- Establish core curriculum and training standards;
- Include an accessible, flexible training service delivery system and network of trainers;
- Address testing and skills competency processes;
- Offer continuing education opportunities and a tier of advanced levels of training opportunities that could be posted on a statewide training website;
- Build on existing resources and infrastructure, especially those used for CNA training and testing;
- Be implemented as a pilot for Medicaid and LGOA providers;
- Include the appropriate administrative processes necessary to support a statewide system (i.e. review and compliance of training providers, processes to modify and update the curriculum, documentation of training results, enforcement, etc.);
- Consider issues related to the costs of funding this infrastructure, including the training, testing, and skills competencies;
- Make recommendations about how to mandate training (i.e., via policy change and/or state agency provider contract changes) and to whom the mandate applies.

## Develop a comprehensive Direct Care Worker Registry to be used as a resource for consumers, family caregivers and providers.

### Rationale

Individual consumers and their families–as well as HCBS providers–experience difficulties finding qualified workers to meet their needs and preferences. People who want to hire DCWs need a reliable mechanism by which to verify basic requirements for potential employees (e.g., criminal background check, up-to-date screenings and geographic availability). Ideally, they could also access information about such things as completed trainings, previous employment experience, other qualifications and references. The creation of the DCW Registry would address these needs by providing a portal to connect to DCWs. In addition, the registry has another potential value for HCBS providers as well: it could help decrease overhead and administrative costs associated with vetting potential employees. An additional benefit of establishing a formal registry of information about DCWs is that the registry could help South Carolina gather data needed to track and plan for the workforce, including data regarding its size and characteristics.

### Action steps

### Lead entity-SC Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation (LLR)

LLR should establish a stakeholder advisory committee to assist in the development of enabling legislation and the creation of a registry that will:

- Be self-sustaining and funded through established fee structures;
- Could potentially draw from existing workforce databases such as those maintained by SCDHHS or its contractors and the LGOA;
- Provide information on the DCWs listed, including such elements as required screenings, criminal background check information and training/certifications achieved;
- Offer an online, searchable registry system to both consumers and providers seeking to find or employ DCWs;
- Be established incrementally, starting with basic information on workers, but laying the groundwork for a more comprehensive registry that could include more detailed information (e.g., previous job performance, references and links to training systems).

Enable registered nurses to delegate specific nursing tasks to unlicensed direct care workers with sufficient training and demonstrated competencies, subject to consumer protections.

### Rationale

Delegation is the process by which a nurse can "direct another person to perform nursing tasks and activities" that s/he would not normally be allowed to do, while "the nurse retains accountability" for the delegation.<sup>27</sup> In each state, nurse practice acts establish which tasks can be delegated to paid DCWs. Of the 16 long-term care/health maintenance tasks that are tracked nationwide, South Carolina currently allows only one task (administering an enema) to be delegated while 23 states allow delegation of more than 11 of these tasks. Examples of tasks that are widely approved for delegation in other states are: administering a glucose test (41 states allow that) and performing ostomy care (40 states).<sup>28</sup> The Federal Commission on Long-Term Care considered the issue of nurse delegation in 2013 and recommended that states permit delegation of tasks to DCWs with "sufficient training and demonstrated competency to perform them, particularly in home and community-based settings that do not have regularly scheduled registered nurses."<sup>18</sup>

With respect to the value of professional standards in nursing care and the importance of the SC Nurse Practice Act, there is value to considering delegation of specific health maintenance tasks as long as potential risks to consumers or nursing professionals is properly addressed. Expanding nurse delegation of such tasks in South Carolina–via a comprehensive approach involving multiple stakeholders and addressing statutory and regulatory provisions, necessary training resources and quality assurance systems–could hold potential benefit in effectively meeting growing care demands. It could help expand the capacity of the LTC workforce and alleviate the already stretched nursing workforce, "allowing care to be provided more efficiently" and giving professionals "more time to perform tasks for which only they are qualified."<sup>18</sup> Delegating certain tasks, when safe and appropriate, could also reduce costs to public funding sources such as Medicaid. Other key reasons for authorizing nurse delegation include empowering consumers and supporting family caregivers, who are increasingly providing complex care for their care recipients at home. In acute care or rehabilitation settings, nurses often train family caregivers to perform nursing tasks as a part of discharge planning, but many of these same tasks cannot be delegated to DCWs. Therefore, if family caregivers are employed or need respite, they must often rely on costly private duty nurses or institutional options. Expanding nurse delegation could ease the difficulty of obtaining and affording timely assistance and respite.

### **Action steps**

Lead entities–Advisory group comprised of key nursing stakeholders and professional associations (e.g., SC Nurses Association and SC Board of Nursing), as well as relevant consumer groups and state agencies

In exploring this recommendation, the stakeholder advisory group should:

- Review what tasks can be delegated under the SC Nurse Practice Act and the current status of delegation in South Carolina;
- Review the history of past attempts to increase nurse delegation in South Carolina and determine barriers and challenges, especially those related to liabilities and risks;
- Review other states' actions related to nurse delegation, especially Good Samaritan provisions to protect nurse delegators and reimbursement issues;
- Provide specific guidance on targeted areas where it is believed that delegation is feasible and appropriate and recommend potential regulatory and statutory changes.

### **PROTECTING VULNERABLE ADULTS**

### Background

Many consumers receiving long-term services and supports (LTSS) are among our state's most vulnerable individuals due to physical, cognitive or chronic health conditions. A strong adult protection system is an integral safeguard for those individuals who are at risk of abuse, neglect (including self-neglect) and exploitation. Such a system should include legal and regulatory safeguards, investigative and preventive efforts as well as services for victims. These protections for vulnerable adults must also cover individuals across the long-term care (LTC) continuum, from those who live at home to those in residential or institutional settings.

South Carolina was one of the first states to enact a comprehensive law to protect vulnerable adults with the passage of the Omnibus Adult Protection Act (OAPA) in 1993. OAPA also established the Adult Protection Coordinating Council (APCC). The APCC brings together health and social services agencies, law enforcement agencies, regulators, enforcers, advocates and consumer representatives to ensure that the state is adequately coordinating its system of protections. While South Carolina has a strong state law and adequate oversight and coordination through the APCC, staffing and funding resources for the state agencies charged with the enforcement of OAPA and performance of statutory duties have been inadequate to effectively serve a growing and increasingly complex LTC system.

The adult protection system in South Carolina consists of a network of programs and services provided by many different agencies with different roles and jurisdictions. The LTC Ombudsman Program in the Lieutenant Governor's Office on Aging (LGOA) is charged with investigating non-criminal complaints and advocating for residents of facilities across the state.<sup>vii</sup> The Adult Protective Services Program (APS) in the SC Department of Social Services (DSS) plays a parallel role for people in their homes, and this role is increasingly important as more individuals are choosing to age in place and receiving care at home. Additionally, the SC Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC), the SC Law Enforcement Division (SLED) and the Attorney General's Office all have defined investigative roles as well.

As efforts continue to develop home and community-based service options and expand policies that promote consumer choice and self-direction of care, South Carolina needs to ensure that the resources necessary to guarantee protection are there, regardless of setting. Considering that abuse, neglect and exploitation of vulnerable adults often involve family members and caregivers, particular attention is needed to provide and strengthen safeguards in home settings where there may be less oversight.<sup>33</sup> Whether receiving care at home or in any kind of out-of-home placement, vulnerable adults should have access to adequate safeguards and services to protect them from the intentional or unintentional harm of the caregivers they rely on as well as from the harm that can result from self-neglect.

### Recommendations

In order to protect vulnerable adults, the Taskforce developed the following recommendations:

- Develop an Adult Abuse Registry;
- Ensure vulnerable adults are protected through an adequate Adult Protective Services Program and have access to preventive services that keep them safely in their homes and from requiring more expensive services;
- Improve the quality and consistency of care in community residential care facilities (CRCFs) through enhancements to and oversight of CRCF licensing regulations and the Optional State Supplementation (OSS) and Optional Supplemental Care for Assisted Living Participants (OSCAP) Programs.

Further detail on the above recommendations is provided in the pages that follow.

<sup>\*\*</sup>The LTC Ombudsman Program investigates non-criminal complaints in the following facilities: nursing facilities, community residential care facilities and programs and facilities operated for or contracted by the SC Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN) and the SC Department of Mental Health (DMH). SLED investigates criminal complaints in programs and facilities operated for or contracted by DDSN and DMH. Local law enforcement agencies also investigate criminal matters.

### Develop an Adult Abuse Registry.

### Rationale

The current system of LTSS does not include sufficient safeguards for protecting consumers from direct care workers (DCWs) and other caregivers who may have a proven history of adult abuse, neglect or exploitation. It is possible for unlicensed individuals, both paid and unpaid, with a history of abuse, neglect or exploitation to move from employer to employer without a record of these actions. An Adult Abuse Registry would provide needed information to consumers and families, providers, regulators and enforcement agencies. To be effective and unbiased, such a registry should be independent of the service delivery system.

At least twenty other states have some form of an abuse registry.<sup>29</sup> The APCC first researched the need for such a registry in South Carolina in a report released in 2000.<sup>30</sup> Model statutes from other states were reviewed. At that time, the most significant challenges identified to developing an Adult Abuse Registry in South Carolina were securing stable funding, establishing an appropriate host agency for the registry, defining the criteria for placement on the registry and outlining a mechanism for due process for people placed on the registry. The Legislative Audit Council also called for the establishment of an Adult Abuse Registry in both its 2008 and 2014 audits of the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs.<sup>29,31</sup>

There are existing sources of information that could be linked to a registry. Two such sources are the current abuse registry required under federal law and maintained by DHEC for certified nursing assistants who work in nursing facilities and the SC Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation (LLR)'s professional and occupational boards for social workers, nurses, physical therapists, long-term care health care administrators, etc. An important administrative consideration will be the technical interface between the Direct Care Worker Registry (Recommendation #12) and the Adult Abuse Registry.

### Action steps

Lead entities-APCC, LLR, DSS, SCDHHS and Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc.(P&A)

APCC, LLR, DSS, SCDHHS and P&A should:

- Review existing reports and recommendations and propose legislation, including identifying a host agency and addressing due process and employment prohibitions, to establish the registry;
- Prepare an accompanying budget request to secure the necessary funding.

Ensure vulnerable adults are protected through an adequate Adult Protective Services Program and have access to preventive services that keep them safely in their homes and from requiring more expensive services.

#### Rationale

An essential component of South Carolina's adult protective efforts is the Adult Protective Services Program (APS), administered by the SC Department of Social Services (DSS). APS is charged with investigating reports of abuse, neglect and exploitation of non-institutionalized vulnerable adults and providing social services (e.g., making living arrangements or securing financial, medical or legal services) to actual or potential victims.

Despite the growing population of older adults and the fact that the abuse, neglect and exploitation of vulnerable adults is recognized as a widespread and complex problem across the country, the number of clients receiving services from DSS's APS Program has declined over the past fifteen years.<sup>32, 33, 34</sup> In FY2001, there were over 7,600 clients receiving services, while in FY2013 there were 4,200.<sup>35, 36</sup> Additionally, while 35 of 50 states provide some level of state funding for their APS programs, South Carolina currently relies on federal funds.<sup>37</sup> Notably, the total funds for APS have been reduced by more than half since FY2001:

- Total funds allocated to DSS for APS for FY2001 were \$6.7 million, including \$1.8 million in state funds; <sup>38</sup>
- Total funds allocated to DSS for APS in FY2015 were \$3.2 million, including \$0 of state funds.<sup>39</sup>

Accordingly, there has been a decrease in total full-time equivalents (FTEs) for APS from 133 to 88 statewide.<sup>38,39</sup> A number of counties in South Carolina do not have dedicated APS workers. External issues, such as difficulties in finding emergency placements due to limited resources, also challenge staff.<sup>viii</sup>

A comprehensive review of APS has been lacking and could bring needed attention and support to the program. Focused study and data in South Carolina are also needed to analyze trends related to those vulnerable adults who receive protective services. Further research could investigate whether targeted improvements, active intervention and new preventive services could impact subsequent outcomes and thereby reduce public services costs.

#### Action step

Lead entities-Independent Review Entity (TBD) with input from key public and private stakeholders (via the APCC) and other consumer representatives (via such groups as AARP South Carolina)

The Taskforce recommends an independent review of APS. This review should determine whether cases referred to APS are being properly accepted and vetted, if response time is adequate and if abuse, neglect and exploitation are being properly identified and addressed. As a part of this review process, key public and private stakeholders should be consulted, including consumer representatives, APCC members and other representatives from key state agencies such as DMH, DDSN and SCDHHS.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>viii</sup>Lack of emergency placements for vulnerable adults also causes significant challenges for hospitals when these individuals present in emergency departments with no acute care needs and no alternative placement options. In 2014, the APCC issued a report entitled "Vulnerable Adults and Hospital Emergency Department Issues." It outlines challenges in these situations and then makes recommendations to address those issues.

Improve the quality and consistency of care in community residential care facilities (CRCFs) through enhancements to and oversight of CRCF licensing regulations and the Optional State Supplementation (OSS) and Optional Supplemental Care for Assisted Living Participants (OSCAP) Programs.

### Rationale

In South Carolina, there are 476 CRCFs, commonly known as assisted living facilities, which are licensed by DHEC.<sup>40</sup> They provide room and board, supervision and personal supportive services (i.e., personal care, hygiene assistance, medication administration and socialization) in a residential setting for people who lack resources or support to live independently and may not qualify for skilled nursing level of care. Residents of these facilities include older adults, people with physical disabilities and people with cognitive impairments or behavioral health issues. Importantly, there is a high degree of variability in size, service and quality across these facilities. They range in size from two beds to over 100 beds. They differ by ownership as well, from nationally operated, corporate-owned facilities to locally operated, independently-owned facilities. There are examples of quality providers at both ends of the spectrum, reinforcing that size and ownership do not define quality. However, the focus of the Taskforce was on those facilities with the most concerning quality. Although care in these facilities is largely private pay, OSS and OSCAP are state-funded, means-test programs administered by SCDHHS that provide public assistance for eligible people to reside in a CRCF. In 2014, there were over 3,400 participants in OSS/OSCAP.<sup>41</sup>

In July 2009, Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc. (P&A) issued an investigative report, *No Place to Call Home: How South Carolina Has Failed Residents of Community Residential Care Facilities*, documenting a number of key areas related to quality of care and oversight.<sup>42</sup> A follow-up report was released in April 2013, *Still No Place to Call Home: How South Carolina Continues to Fail Residents of Community Residential Care Facilities*. A key finding was that little progress had been made in the overall improvement of living conditions in CRCFs documented in 2009 and that none of the five recommendations made in the earlier report had been implemented.<sup>43</sup> In 2013–14, the APCC convened an ad hoc committee of its members to review recommendations from both reports; this follow-up study cited the status of each proposed recommendation and suggested action steps to address them.<sup>44</sup>

### Action steps

Lead entities-APCC, P&A, DHEC and SCDHHS

- APCC, P&A, DHEC and SCDHHS should work together with key stakeholders (including SC Association of Residential Care Homes, Sincere Home Owners United Together, SC Association of Community Residential Programs, DMH and other providers and administrators) to implement the follow-up steps outlined by the APCC on the recommendations in the SC Protection and Advocacy reports of 2009 and 2013.
- The Taskforce recommends that the General Assembly allocate funds to increase DHEC's enforcement capacity through additional funded staff positions.

- SCDHHS should link future reimbursement increases in OSS/OSCAP to performance and quality of care.
- DHEC, with input from stakeholders, should explore modifications of the CRCF licensing regulations to differentiate facilities that have the capacity to support residents who have higher levels of mental and functional disabilities.

Note: The impact of the Home and Community-Based Services (HCBS) Rule<sup>ix</sup> should be taken into consideration in efforts to address the quality and consistency of care in CRCFs. This rule seeks to ensure that Medicaid-sponsored HCBS are provided in settings that are fully integrated into the broader community and offer choice. It outlines specific requirements for home and community-based settings paid for by Medicaid (which includes some CRCFs) to ensure that they are not institutional in nature, provide a "home-like setting" and offer adequate privacy. Examples of such requirements include that settings should have units with lockable doors, individuals should have choice of roommates and individuals should be able to have access to appropriate food at any time.

<sup>ix</sup>See footnote on the HCBS Rule on page 20 for more information.

### SUPPORTING FAMILY CAREGIVERS

"There are only four kinds of people in the world: those who have been caregivers, those who are currently caregivers, those who will be caregivers, and those who will need caregivers." - Former First Lady Rosalynn Carter

#### Background

In South Carolina, over 770,000 individuals serve as unpaid family caregivers,<sup>×</sup> including those caring for a parent, child, friend or other loved one.<sup>45</sup> The range of responsibilities these family caregivers assume varies greatly depending on the needs, preferences and resources of the care recipient. Whether providing support for someone with physical or intellectual disabilities, mental illness, cognitive impairment or other chronic conditions, family caregiving takes on many forms: caregivers may provide assistance with daily tasks (e.g., eating, bathing, toileting), arrange appointments with multiple providers, coordinate services, act as advocates and offer social support, encouragement or supervision when needed. Caregivers are also increasingly performing complex medical tasks such as administering medications or operating medical equipment. Often, the incredible efforts of family caregivers enhance the quality of life of their care recipients and enable them to live in less restrictive settings than otherwise might be possible, in some cases delaying higher cost institutional care.

Many family caregivers find meaning and fulfillment in their caregiving roles. At the same time, they often have to make substantial sacrifices to do what they do. The strains and stresses of caregiving can be significant, seriously affecting physical and mental wellbeing. For example, various studies have found that family caregivers are at an increased risk of a myriad of health problems including Alzheimer's disease, heart disease, diabetes, stroke, depression and other chronic conditions.<sup>46, 47, 48</sup> In addition, family caregiving can negatively impact an individual's career and financial security, and the impact on the workforce (e.g., lost productivity costs) and the community at large is significant as well. Many family caregivers reduce or withdraw from employment and other activities outside the home.

Family caregiving can be a complex juggling act, requiring the need to balance caregiving responsibilities with ongoing employment and family demands. The complexities of caregiving require drawing on reserves of energy and perseverance as well as the development of new skills to perform caregiving duties which are not always instinctive or simple. Caregivers sometimes have to learn new ways of interacting with those they care for, which requires assertiveness, planning, self-awareness, patience and, sometimes, formal training. Finally, caregivers must also learn how to care for themselves to sustain themselves throughout their caregiving responsibilities. Support for these unpaid caregivers is essential in sustaining the overall system of long-term services and supports.<sup>xi</sup>

#### **Recommendations**

In order to provide support for family caregivers, the Taskforce developed the following recommendations:

- Improve access and funding for flexible respite services;
- Increase access to training opportunities and sources of ongoing support for family caregivers to sustain them in their caregiving roles;
- Enhance the capacity of the Aging Network to ensure that family caregivers receive critical services, including thorough assessment, education, training and support;
- Promote the role of family caregivers as critical members of the care team and encourage family engagement;
- Develop and strengthen financial and employment supports for family caregivers.

Further detail on the above recommendations is provided in the pages that follow.

\*In this report, the term "family caregiver" is used broadly to refer to any unpaid individual, not just a relative, who serves in a caregiving role for a care recipient of any age. In its Final Report to Congress in 2013, the Federal Commission on Long-Term Care offered a helpful definition of the term as follows: "a relative, partner, friend or neighbor who has a significant relationship with, and provides assistance for, a person who has functional limitations." The family caregiver may provide a broad range of assistance, and the care recipient may have a broad range of needs related to disabilities or chronic conditions.

"In its 2012 report entitled "Across the States: Profiles of the Long-Term Services and Supports," the AARP Public Policy Institute has estimated the economic value of caregiving in South Carolina to be \$7.4 billion.

### Improve access and funding for flexible respite services.

#### Rationale

The physical, emotional and financial strains of caregiving are significant and can mount, especially without regular, planned breaks. Respite-temporary relief from the responsibilities associated with taking care of a person of any age who has a physical or intellectual disability, mental illness, cognitive impairment or other chronic condition-can sustain the health of caregivers, enabling them to continue to function in their caregiving roles. Respite care can be provided at home, in the community or in institutional settings "by paid providers, volunteers, family members or friends, all of whom should have appropriate training and supervision."<sup>49</sup> Despite the critical relief that can come from respite, caregivers often do not know what it is or how to access it. Many also need education on the importance of respite (and self-care, more broadly) to their own wellbeing and on how to use it appropriately as one essential strategy in addressing caregiving responsibilities.

The demands on caregivers are complicated and dynamic, and the need for respite varies based on the care recipient's status, needs and preferences as well as on the caregiver's situation. Respite options must be flexible to meet these varying needs. Respite is considered to be a critical support by many stakeholders for enabling families to care for care recipients at home. At the same time, respite alone is not sufficient to meet caregiver needs. It must be addressed "in the context of other forms of assistance provided [to caregivers] by states including information/assistance, education, and training and other caregiver support services."<sup>18</sup> Only such a comprehensive strategy of caregiver services, alongside adequate daily supports for care recipients, can sustain caregivers and enable them to care effectively for their care recipients long-term.

In South Carolina, multiple funding sources and organizations provide financial support for respite care to eligible caregivers.<sup>xii</sup> However, according to South Carolina's 2013 State Respite Plan, due to the size of the need, "these resources are critically inadequate to meet the needs of most families. Some population groups are served better than others; but, in general, respite is in short supply, inaccessible or unaffordable."<sup>49</sup> In order to ensure access to respite services, the Taskforce feels current sources of public funding should be stabilized and increased, and the infrastructure supporting both the provision of these funds and education about respite should be strengthened.

### Action steps

Lead entities-SCDHHS, LGOA and SC Respite Coalition

- The Taskforce recommends that the General Assembly provide and increase stable state funding for respite for family caregivers.
- With input from the Area Agencies on Aging/Aging and Disability Resource Centers (AAAs/ ADRCs), local providers and consumers/families, the Lieutenant Governor's Office on Aging (LGOA) should identify current practices that could be improved to ensure that an adequate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>xii</sup> The sources for financial support for respite care include the Alzheimer's Caregiver Respite program (funded through the Department of Mental Health and administered by the Alzheimer's Association in partnership with the LGOA and Aging Network), state respite funds, federal Lifespan Respite grant funds, Title III-E of the Older Americans Act and Medicaid waivers. These are authorized through multiple agencies (e.g., LGOA, SCDHHS, DDSN, SC Respite Coalition). Each funding source has its own eligibility criteria and target population(s).

infrastructure and administrative capacity exist to efficiently distribute respite funds and provide meaningful respite services through the Aging Network (See Recommendation #19).

- SC Department of Health and Human Services (SCDHHS) should develop mechanisms to implement an in-home respite service (with established eligibility criteria and benefit caps during the initial phase) in the Community Long Term Care (CLTC) Community Choice Waiver. Resources will need to be made available to support this new service.
- The SC Respite Coalition and the LGOA should develop a formal action plan to partner with faith communities to expand respite programs and identify seed funding from such sources as the ElderCare Trust Fund in developing, implementing and replicating these services.

The 2013 State Respite Plan provides detailed background information on the need for and barriers to obtaining respite care in South Carolina. It also provides a comprehensive overview of the state's respite infrastructure, funding and service delivery and presents recommendations in the following key areas: Gaps and Obstacles, Education and Outreach, Legal and Policy Issues and Provider Network Development.

### Increase access to training opportunities and sources of ongoing support for family caregivers to sustain them in their caregiving roles.

### Rationale

Caregivers need training and sources of ongoing support to prepare them to fulfill their responsibilities while ensuring that they can maintain their own health and wellbeing. Family caregiving roles have long included providing assistance with everyday tasks like bathing, dressing, preparing meals, shopping and managing finances. Increasingly, family caregivers are also being called upon to perform "medical/ nursing tasks of the kind and complexity once provided only in hospitals and nursing homes and by home care professionals. This change has occurred because of the prevalence of chronic conditions in an aging population, economic pressures to reduce hospital stays, and the growth of in-home technology."<sup>50</sup> Family caregivers often develop their skills and knowledge through trial and error and practical experiences, especially if thrust into their roles unexpectedly. They often need more training and support to help them fulfill the varied responsibilities required of them. Formal training interventions and sources of ongoing support can develop skills and empower caregivers, thereby ensuring the safety of the care recipient and sustaining the caregiver in his or her role.

Many family caregivers learn specific health-related caregiving tasks from home health, acute care or rehab staff. Training and other kinds of assistance are also available through publicly funded programs (e.g., Family Caregiver Support Program) as well as through peer-to-peer mentoring that occurs in support groups and other programs. However, more formalized training opportunities and additional sources of ongoing support are needed. Drawing on a combination of local and national best practices, effective training resources should be further developed, including online training modules, courses that are available at easily accessible local venues such as technical colleges and caregiver coaching services that provide one-on-one support. Importantly, current funding sources, such as the Family Caregiver Support Program funds, can be used to support caregiver training, in addition to providing respite care.

#### Action steps

Lead entities-LGOA, OSA, SCDHHS and Preventing Avoidable Readmissions Together (PART) initiative

- SCDHHS should amend the CLTC Community Choices Waiver to add caregiver coaching as a service.<sup>xiii</sup>
- The LGOA should:
  - Oversee the establishment of a suite of training modules for family caregivers to be made available online. (The OSA could provide assistance in this effort, building on previous work developing caregiver coaching service modules. Additional national and local training modules exist on a range of topics that could be used as resources as well, such as those developed by the SC Respite Coalition for individuals and families served by DDSN.) These modules should cover a variety of topics including hands-on care provision, self-care/wellness and grief/loss. (See Recommendation #23.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>mil</sup>A Caregiver Coaching Service pilot was developed, tested and evaluated by the OSA in two CLTC regional offices in 2011. Experiences from this pilot and materials developed for it should be considered when adding a caregiver coaching service to CLTC. This service should also be coordinated with caregiver coaching efforts developed for Healthy Connections Prime participants.

- Partner with the SC Technical College network to provide low cost/no cost education and training opportunities in evidence-based caregiving programs;
- Develop capacity within the Aging Network to provide more hands-on education, training and coaching opportunities for family caregivers, including exploring new funding sources to pay for these services and providing support for staff members to be trained in evidence-based intervention protocols;
- Explore best practices that motivate caregivers to obtain education and training through incentives such as additional respite funding and develop an action plan for incorporating these motivational techniques into program policy.
- The PART initiative should explore and recommend ways for hospitals to provide enhanced training during post-acute care transitions.

Note: Trainings for family caregivers could be developed in conjunction with those for direct care workers because the content in many cases will be similar (see Recommendation #11).

# Enhance the capacity of the Aging Network to ensure that family caregivers receive critical services, including thorough assessment, education, training and support.

### Rationale

In South Carolina, the Family Caregiver Support Program (FCSP) is administered through the ten AAAs/ADRCs.<sup>xiv</sup> The majority of AAAs/ADRCs have only one Family Caregiver Advocate who is responsible for a multi-county region. Family Caregiver Advocates work directly with family caregivers, assessing their needs and providing crucial services, including information, assistance, counseling/ support groups, training and respite care vouchers. Considering South Carolina has over 770,000 family caregivers and that most AAAs/ADRCs have only one Family Caregiver Advocate who is responsible for multiple services in four to six counties, the current structure is not adequate to meet current or future demand.<sup>45</sup>

Importantly, the data from family caregiver assessments completed for the FCSP, if regularly analyzed, could assist in monitoring services, identifying unmet needs and gaps and evaluating quality and effectiveness of services. While caregiver assessments can provide valuable information, it is important to note that ongoing staff training is crucial to ensure effective assessment skills. At the same time, assessment processes should not be overly burdensome, especially given high caseloads for Family Caregiver Advocates.

While the LGOA and AAAs/ADRCs across the state provide an important network of support for family caregivers in South Carolina, there are many other public and private groups working with and on behalf of family caregivers (e.g., state agencies, nonprofits, support groups, faith-based organizations, hospitals). Further coordination among these entities could serve to strengthen the system. For example, in Georgia, each AAA houses a coalition of caregiver support organizations, including representatives from across a broad array of illnesses and disabilities. This organized structure of local coalitions is known as Georgia CARE-NET. These coalitions "provide ongoing assessment of community resources, identify and remedy gaps in services, share information and resources among agencies, develop strategies for complementary professional and family caregiver activities, offer caregiver education" and advocate for family caregivers.<sup>51</sup>

### **Action steps**

Lead entity-LGOA

- The Taskforce recommends that the General Assembly provide additional state funds to augment the Title III-E federal funding for the FCSP; the goal of this increased funding should be to ensure that each region has an adequate number of Family Caregiver Advocates for its respective counties, as determined by client base.
- The LGOA should:
  - Develop an action plan to augment the capacity of Family Caregiver Advocates through additional support staff and volunteers;

x<sup>iv</sup>As South Carolina's State Unit on Aging, the LGOA administers federal Older American Act (OAA) funds. Title III-E of the OAA establishes and provides funds for the National Family Caregiver Support Program. In each state, the OAA funds 85% of the program with a required 5% match to be provided by the state and 10% match to be provided by local funds. Title III-E sets forth what kinds of services the program can support, establishes specific target populations for these services and mandates the use of volunteers in carrying out the program.

- Provide support for staff members who work directly with family caregivers to be certified in evidence-based intervention protocols;
- Ensure that appropriate data are collected through caregiver assessment processes by providing regular, thorough training on assessment skills/instruments;
- Formally review Georgia's CARE-NET (with key stakeholders-e.g., possibly a family caregiver advisory group), and other similar state networks that support family caregivers, to determine if a similar structure could effectively strengthen South Carolina's system. If it is determined appropriate for South Carolina, propose membership, funding and structure of such an effort.

### Promote the role of family caregivers as critical members of the care team and encourage family engagement.

### Rationale

Family caregivers can offer valuable input in developing care plans for their care recipients and are essential links in the implementation and monitoring of those plans. They often serve as care coordinators and perform a wide range of health-related tasks from preparing special diets and administering medications to performing wound care and more.<sup>18</sup> Due to the frequency and nature of their contact with their care recipients, they can provide essential information about care needs, overall changes in condition and compliance to prescribed regimens. For these reasons, formal inclusion of the family caregiver as a member of the health care team has been increasingly recognized across the country as a critical strategy to ensure good outcomes for consumers. Family caregivers are no longer viewed simply as a "resource" for their recipients, but are increasingly seen as "partners on the care team.<sup>24,18</sup> National advisory groups, such as the Institute of Medicine and the Federal Commission on Long-Term Care, acknowledge the benefits of integrating family caregivers with the formal health care team.<sup>21,18</sup> Including family caregivers on the care team can improve communication between providers and family caregivers who are performing functions that are essential for the health of the care recipient. It can also ensure family caregivers have the capacity and resources they need to fulfill the necessary duties.

Consumer and family participation in care assessment and plan development is a major tenet of person- and family-centered planning. There are different approaches and models to involve family caregivers that have been developed across the country. In South Carolina, such approaches have primarily been implemented through programs serving populations dually eligible for Medicare and Medicaid; Healthy Connections Prime and Program of All-inclusive Care for the Elderly both use a multi-disciplinary team approach that incorporates consumer and family input and participation.

### Action steps

Lead entity-LGOA and South Carolina Area Health Education Consortium (AHEC)

The LGOA and South Carolina AHEC, with input from key stakeholders should:

- Educate health care providers about the value of engaging family caregivers as a part of the care team and including family caregivers in the development of care plans for the consumer;
- Develop an action plan to encourage state agencies, primary care physicians, hospital discharge planners and home health agencies to incorporate a brief caregiver screening (e.g., AMA Caregiver Self-Assessment Questionnaire) as a part of assessment processes (see Recommendation #2);
- Conduct outreach to health care providers to encourage their use of SC Access when making referrals for caregivers and consumers to community resources such as AAA/ADRCs, Alzheimer's Association, SC Respite Coalition and others (see Recommendation #23).

## Develop and strengthen financial and employment supports for family caregivers.

### Rationale

While many family caregivers are able to find meaning and fulfillment in their roles, the pervasive and variable nature of their responsibilities can cause significant strain on their finances and negatively affect their employment. Many family caregivers incur direct out-of-pocket costs, spending their own money "to help support a family member or friend with a disability or chronic care needs."<sup>48</sup> Expenditures related to family caregiving can affect the ability of the caregiver to save for his or her own future.<sup>48</sup> Furthermore, to create a balance between job responsibilities and caregiving responsibilities, family caregivers often have to make workplace accommodations—such as modifying schedules, taking unpaid leave, turning down overtime opportunities or refusing new assignments that require travel or relocation. Some caregivers leave the workforce entirely. The necessities of caregiving, then, can have a long-term impact on financial and employment security. Efforts should be undertaken to support family caregivers through targeted efforts to offset essential expenses and provide other supports.

The demands of caregiving not only impact the individual worker who is serving as a family caregiver, but also impact his or her employer. A 2006 MetLife study estimated that employers lose more than \$33 billion each year due to costs linked to employees who are full-time caregivers; these costs are associated with replacing employees, absenteeism, supervisory time, unpaid leave and more.<sup>xv,52</sup> As the aging population increases and more individuals assume family caregiving roles, employers must develop policies and workplace supports that address the realities of family caregiving.

### **Action steps**

Lead entities–Joint Legislative Committee to Study Services, Programs and Facilities for Aging, SCDHHS and LGOA

- The Joint Legislative Committee to Study Services, Programs and Facilities for Aging should review draft proposals regarding tax credits for family caregiving expenses, which uses the Georgia tax credit for caregiving expenses as a possible model.
- SCDHHS should explore expanding the paid family caregiver option to all personal care and related Medicaid waiver and state plan services, while ensuring adequate oversight.<sup>xvi</sup>
- The LGOA should convene stakeholders from the business community to develop an action plan that will encourage employers to review their human resource policies and develop caregiver friendly policies (e.g., providing flexible leave policies, access to information/referral and case management, education about dependent care savings accounts). Stakeholder groups to involve could include: SC Business Coalition on Health, State Chamber of Commerce, small business associations, South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority, Municipal Association, Councils of Government, Association of Counties and the South Carolina Association of Nonprofit Organizations. A possible strategy for encouraging businesses to support family caregivers is the creation of a special award for businesses that do an exceptional job implementing workplace supports/policies to be given out by the Lieutenant Governor or Governor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>ar</sup>The 2006 MetLife study estimates that employers lose an average of \$2,110 in productivity costs per full-time employee who is a caregiver.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>svi</sup>Very little currently exists in the way of direct financial assistance or benefits for family caregivers. However, consumers receiving HCBS through some Medicaid waivers do have the option to pay eligible family members as their personal attendants, providing personal care services such as assistance with eating, bathing and housekeeping. As of May 2015, SCDHHS reports that paid family caregiver programs such as these provide financial supports to nearly 1,500 family members in South Carolina.

### **PROMOTING CHOICE AND INDEPENDENCE THROUGH EDUCATION**

#### Background

To ensure choice and maximize independence for individuals and family caregivers, the Long-Term Care (LTC) system needs enhanced educational and preventive opportunities. Currently such efforts often take the back seat in the midst of providing crucial direct services. Programs that provide information, referral, educational components and preventive services have had to compete with direct services for limited resources–and that has resulted in less emphasis in these areas across the system.

Without deliberate educational efforts, individuals and families could be less able to plan for their care before an urgent situation arises. Without access to information, they are ill-equipped to access the services available to them and might assume their choices to be more limited than they are. For example, if family caregivers are unaware of respite services, that lack of knowledge could influence their decision-making and capacity to assist their care recipients at home. Similarly, if providers do not know of community resources, their referrals and recommendations are limited and might not reflect all options available to meet consumers' preferences.

Likewise, preventive efforts put individuals and families in a better position to maximize their independence and quality of life. Such efforts (e.g., evidence-based exercise programs, preventive screenings and vaccines, fall prevention programs, medication adherence programs) can keep people active, engaged in their communities, functioning at the highest possible levels and living in the least restrictive setting. Like education, attention to prevention has often taken a back seat to the provision of services that meet pressing, urgent needs. A system that emphasizes prevention and education has the potential to save public and private dollars and to maximize safety and independence.

Efforts to provide education and information to individuals, families and providers will become increasingly important as the population needing LTC grows. As more people are choosing to receive services in home and community-based settings, access to planning tools, preventive services and information about service options will be of greater importance. Health care and service providers also must have easy access to information about community resources. To be truly effective, education must be ongoing and aimed at individuals and caregivers not only when they access the system but also early in life to encourage planning. Specific messages must be developed to target individuals at various points in the LTC system. To gain the attention necessary, these messages should be carefully coordinated, conveyed through multiple channels and technologies and reinforced often.

#### **Recommendations**

In order to promote choice and independence through education, the Taskforce developed the following recommendations:

- Enhance and coordinate statewide fall prevention efforts, as well as other preventive programs/ services;
- Develop and market a comprehensive, user-friendly online information and referral resource for long-term services and supports that will include resources for family caregivers;
- Institute an ongoing informational campaign to educate consumers about the need to save and plan for long-term care expenses;
- Strengthen the state's infrastructure to provide greater support to consumers and families regarding options to maintain independence;
- Support and enhance awareness about statewide education efforts regarding advance care planning based on the needs and values of individuals.

Further detail on the above recommendations is provided in the pages that follow.

## Enhance and coordinate statewide fall prevention efforts, as well as other preventive programs/services.

### Rationale

Falls are a devastating and expensive public health concern. Falls are responsible for more fatal and non-fatal injuries among older adults than any other cause.<sup>53</sup> One third of adults over the age of 65 experience a fall each year, and 20 to 30% of those sustain serious injuries that make it difficult or impossible to return to independent living and that increase the risk of an early death.<sup>53</sup> In 2013, the direct medical costs of fall-related injuries adjusted for inflation totaled \$34 billion nationally.<sup>53</sup>

According to "The State of Aging and Health in America," released by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention in 2013, South Carolina ranks in the bottom quartile of states for falls with injury in the past year.<sup>xvii, 54</sup> A look at South Carolina's statistics from 2012 demonstrates the significant effect falls have on quality of life for thousands across the state as well as the major fiscal impact of falls:

- Inpatient hospital charges related to falls for all ages, across all payers, were over \$800 million. Almost 70% of people who were hospitalized due to a fall were age 65 and up. The inpatient hospital charges related to those falls (age 65 and up), across all payers, were over \$547 million.<sup>55</sup>
- Medicaid paid over \$47 million in inpatient hospital charges related to falls.<sup>55</sup>
- Of those who were hospitalized due to a fall in 2012, 64% were discharged to an extended care facility.<sup>55</sup>
- Total skilled nursing facility charges paid for by Medicaid a year after a fall were approximately \$26 million for people age 35 and older.<sup>55</sup>

If falls were prevented through effective interventions, expenditures such as those referenced above could be reduced. While the consequences of falling (e.g., pain and suffering, loss of independence, isolation, costly treatments, premature death) can be catastrophic, many successful strategies for avoiding falls are not difficult and are often cost saving. Fall prevention and related interventions need to be addressed in a more systemic fashion in South Carolina, particularly for individuals living in home and community-based settings and for family caregivers. A comprehensive, multifaceted effort using existing resource materials that are readily available could improve fall prevention efforts, benefiting consumers, families and health care providers across the state. Evidence-based fall prevention programs exist that could be drawn on to develop a comprehensive program.<sup>xviii</sup> Multiple states have statewide ongoing fall prevention programs (e.g., Hawaii, Michigan, California, Connecticut). Though very few are collecting quantitative data, the University of Pittsburgh Schools of the Health Sciences, which introduced a program to reduce falls among the elderly, found that their simple intervention reduced falls by 17% statewide, thereby reducing subsequent costs associated with falls.<sup>56</sup>

#### Action steps

#### Lead entity-Statewide coalition of partners

The Taskforce recommends the implementation of a coordinated statewide fall prevention program to improve the quality of life for South Carolinians, reduce the need for long-term services and supports (LTSS) and save money.

x<sup>wir</sup>The State of Aging and Health in America" provides state rankings on a variety of indicators related to health status, health behaviors, preventive care/screening and injuries. South Carolina scored in the bottom quartile for daily fruit consumption, obesity and falls with injury. South Carolina scored in the bottom half of states for oral health, disability, lack of physical activity and daily vegetable consumption.

x<sup>viii</sup>Examples of fall prevention tools and materials, as well information on implementing evidence-based fall prevention programs and interventions, can be found at the Injury Center maintained by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the National Falls Prevention Resource Center. Fall prevention legislation and statute information from across the country can be found on the National Conference of State Legislatures' website.

The implementation of such a comprehensive statewide fall prevention program could occur in stages and could focus initially on key target populations such as consumers receiving HCBS through SC Healthy Connections Prime and high-risk populations (e.g., those who have previously fallen). The engagement of family caregivers would also be a means for disseminating this information.

Some of the components that are integral to a successful fall prevention program are:

- A standardized, consistent and implemented fall risk assessment process with validated screening tools;
- Consistent communication and application of an intervention when an individual has been identified as a fall risk;
- Adequate education on falls and fall risk for individuals, family caregivers and health care providers.

### Other preventive efforts

Fall prevention efforts are just one example of prevention-related activities that could help older adults and people with disabilities while also saving state resources. The Taskforce supports implementation of policies and statewide education efforts that encourage the use of preventive services to promote healthy aging, such as:

- Working through professional associations and professional training programs to educate health care providers about best practices in prevention and how those could be integrated into the current health care delivery systems;
- Working with agencies and advocacy organizations to educate individuals about the importance
  of preventive services (such as flu, shingles and pneumonia vaccines that are covered by
  Medicare) and to promote behaviors that support healthy aging (such as managing medications
  appropriately, exercising and eating a healthy diet);
- Working with SC Department of Health and Human Services (SCDHHS) to prioritize preventive services, including providing enhanced payments for preventive services.

Develop and market a comprehensive, user-friendly online information and referral resource for long-term services and supports, which will include resources for family caregivers.

### Rationale

Consumers and families face complex issues while navigating long-term care considerations and need a place to obtain comprehensive information about available options and access resources. Health care and other service providers also require access to information to help them refer individuals and caregivers to appropriate community resources. Currently, there are multiple ways that individuals can find information in South Carolina. Having a more centralized, coordinated system could increase efficiency, improve timely access to services and reduce stress for those navigating long-term care issues. It is critical that information resources be easy to use, meet accessibility standards and be consistently updated and well publicized.

One of the major resources for LTSS-related information in the state is SC Access, which is managed by the Lieutenant Governor's Office on Aging (LGOA). SC Access is a web-based service directory used by Information and Referral/Assistance Specialists in the Aging Network and is available to the public and health and human service providers. In addition to service listings, users can find a community calendar, educational resources, a personal care worker listing and a nursing facility/ community residential care facility (CRCF) bed locator. Other information resources include: the Medicaid call center, Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN) online provider/service directory, United Way's 211, SC Thrive and other private entities. Many nonprofits serving particular target populations maintain resource directories, call-in numbers and web pages to provide information specific to the needs of those they serve.

Members of the taskforce have reflected that SC Access needs to be more frequently updated, comprehensive, user-friendly and better publicized. According to a 2014 AARP South Carolina poll of registered voters age 45 and older, having information about available resources for caregivers is a top need.<sup>57</sup> Twenty percent of the respondents had used SC Access and indicated that it was helpful.<sup>57</sup> More than three-quarters of respondents were not aware of SC Access, which underscores the need for marketing resources.<sup>57</sup>

### **Action steps**

Lead entities-LGOA in conjunction with advisory committee (see progress note below)

The Taskforce recommends using and expanding on the content of SC Access to develop a centralized web-based information and referral system. This system should be marketed as a one-stop shop for consumers, caregivers and health care or other service providers/agencies.

This project should be implemented by a public-private partnership and led by an advisory committee that will oversee the process of developing the content, technical components and marketing plans. The advisory committee should also make recommendations about developing the needed administrative infrastructure/processes to ensure that information is consistently updated and meets the needs of various constituents. The advisory committee should include stakeholders from across the LTC system as well as professionals with relevant technical expertise in web-development, IT and marketing.

Identifying, compiling and preparing the content of this resource should occur in phases. It should include the following components:

- New and existing information and referral content;
- A suite of training modules for family caregivers (see Recommendation #18);
- A link to a registry of direct care workers (see Recommendation #12);
- Information on available technology that supports aging in place;
- Other potential special features targeting areas of identified need.

To address sustainability, an action plan for further public-private funding opportunities should be developed.

Progress note: In the fall of 2014, the Duke Energy Advisory Committee allocated up to \$250,000 for development of the infrastructure and promotion of an enhanced website. To guide this process an advisory committee of technical experts and stakeholders from across the long-term care system is being established.

## Institute an ongoing informational campaign to educate consumers about the need to save and plan for long-term care expenses.

### Rationale

LTC services are expensive, and the majority of people will need these services at some point in their lives. According to the US Department of Health and Human Services, "someone turning age 65 today has almost a 70% chance of needing some type of long-term care services and supports" at some point.<sup>58</sup> Despite how widespread this need is, people are generally uninformed about the costs of LTC and lack understanding about what public programs will fund.<sup>59</sup>

People need to be actively planning and saving for their potential needs for long-term services and supports, and research indicates that they are doing neither. According to a 2014 Associated Press-NORC poll, 67% of Americans 40 or older have done little or no planning at all for their ongoing living assistance needs. Only 35% indicate that they put aside any savings for these needs.<sup>59</sup> Other data reveal that 40% of Baby Boomers, currently aged 52–68, report not having any retirement savings at all.<sup>60</sup> Recognizing that people have competing priorities when making decisions related to their financial resources, planning and saving for potential needs related to LTC should be an important part of their considerations. Planning ahead and being financially prepared could enable individuals to make better use of their resources, providing them with greater autonomy and choice as well as increased security.

South Carolina needs a broad-based campaign to raise awareness about planning for potential needs for LTC. This campaign should include information about the full range of services and possible financing options (e.g., medical spending accounts, long-term care insurance,<sup>xix</sup> trusts and reverse annuity mortgages). It is especially important to target efforts to reach younger audiences to encourage planning and saving earlier in life. Therefore, a diverse group of partners, beyond those in the aging field, is necessary to plan and implement the campaign.

### Action steps

### Lead entity-LGOA

The LGOA should partner with a diverse collaborative representing the business sector, long-term care providers, professional associations, advocates and other stakeholders to:

- Develop an informational campaign to raise awareness among younger adults about the importance of preparing privately for retirement and LTC costs in the future;
- Provide education for the health care, social services and legal professions about their roles in providing information to consumers on financing options for LTC;
- Develop an information campaign to disseminate educational materials to consumers at their first point-of-entry with the system;
- Work with employers to raise awareness about the need to include information on LTC financing options in their established retirement planning sessions;
- Explore grant opportunities to help fund these efforts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>str</sup>As of 2009, South Carolina participates in the Long Term Care Partnership Program, a joint federal-state policy initiative that encourages people to purchase private long-term care insurance by linking special qualified private insurance policies with Medicaid. These policies allow individuals who continue to need long-term care after their policy maximum is reached to apply for Medicaid under modified eligibility rules. They include an "asset disregard" component allowing individuals to retain assets above the standard Medicaid limit.

## Strengthen the state's infrastructure to provide greater supports to consumers and families regarding options to maintain independence.

### Rationale

Individuals and families should have access to information about what resources are available to maximize independence and support living in the least restrictive setting. They also may need access to peer support and training opportunities to enable them to develop the skills needed to live independently. Such information may be particularly difficult to access for individuals residing in nursing facilities, assisted living facilities or other residential programs who desire to live in a more independent, less restrictive setting.

Centers for Independent Living (CILs), authorized by federal law, help individuals with disabilities live as independently as possible by providing the following core services: information and referral, independent living skills training, individual and systems advocacy, peer support/mentoring and transition services. Independent living skills training can include such topics as how to use public transportation or paratransit (specialized transportation services for people with disabilities), manage finances, find stable housing or employment, access necessary social services, manage personal care aides or become a proactive consumer of health care. Transition services are provided to youth with disabilities who are entering higher education or the workforce, individuals who are at risk of entering an institution and individuals who are moving from an institutional setting to living at home or in a community-based setting. South Carolina has three CILs providing services in 37 of the 46 counties. The three CILs in South Carolina do not receive any state funding; they currently receive a combined total of over \$949,000 in federal funding through Title VII, Chapter 1, Part C of the Rehabilitation Act.<sup>61</sup>

#### Action steps

#### Lead entity-The SC Statewide Independent Living Council

- The SC Statewide Independent Living Council will be responsible for the development of an automated informational planning toolkit to promote independent living. Key stakeholders to involve in this effort include AccessAbility, Able SC, Walton Options for Independent Living, representatives from among the ten Area Agencies on Aging/Aging and Disability Resource Centers, SC Department of Health and Human Services, SC Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, AARP, Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, University of South Carolina College of Nursing, individuals living with disabilities and older South Carolinians. In a parallel effort, these stakeholders should also develop a communication and public information campaign about the toolkit and the importance of maintaining independence targeted to the community, other stakeholders and health care providers.
- The Taskforce recommends that state funding be allocated to the CILs to enable services to be provided in the nine counties that are currently unserved and to expand the capacity of the three existing centers to provide additional supports that promote independence in the counties currently served.

## Support and enhance statewide education efforts regarding advance care planning based on the needs and values of individuals.

### Rationale

Individuals with a serious, chronic or terminal illness face important decisions about their health care and the options that exist regarding treatment and comfort care. Through educational efforts and input from trusted legal and health care providers, individuals should be allowed to make informed choices regarding their care and ensure that their wishes are carried out. In addition, people should be encouraged to consider these issues and options in advance of need to ensure that they have outlined their choices clearly and appropriately. Living wills and health care powers of attorney can be complicated to understand. It is important for individuals to have access to information and resources to better comprehend the legal and ethical issues involved in executing these documents and the importance of completing them.

In an effort to better inform consumers about advanced directives, the Patient Self-Determination Act (PSDA) was enacted by Congress in 1990 and became effective in 1991. The PSDA requires hospitals, nursing facilities, home health agencies, hospice providers, managed care organizations and other health care providers who accept Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement to offer information about advance directives as a part of an admissions process (note: physicians are excluded from this requirement).

In 2010, the South Carolina Coalition for the Care of the Seriously III (SC-CSI) was established as a statewide coalition bringing together key organizations, clinicians and health care entities to collaborate on behalf of the seriously, chronically and terminally ill. SC-CSI has worked "to develop uniform processes for communication, consent, and decision-making that will be widely recognized and accepted across the state and be used regularly by physicians caring for seriously ill patients."<sup>62</sup> SC-CSI began a pilot project in Greenville and Charleston in 2014 to test the use of a standardized form called the Physician Order for Scope of Treatment, which combines a patients' wishes about their treatment with a physician's order for services. The goal is to have a portable communication form that follows patients throughout the treatment process so that the entire care team across the health care system is aware of and follows their wishes. Informing this pilot project, the coalition has four broad strategic aims, including one regarding increasing public education and awareness about advance directives and health care decision making.

### Action steps

Lead entity-SC-CSI and other partners

The Taskforce:

- Supports SC-CSI in providing statewide educational programs (including broad public education efforts as well as individual outreach efforts to inform patients) on advance directives and health care decision making, such as the promotion of Health Care Decisions Day in April;
- Recommends increasing awareness of SC-CSI and expanding partnerships as needed to enhance the success of their mission;
- Recommends that SC-CSI should be a partner in efforts related to the broad-based campaign on LTC planning (Recommendation #24);
- Recommends including advance care planning resources on relevant websites (Recommendation #23).

### Improving Long-Term Care in South Carolina

### **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

The actionable recommendations contained in this report create direction for improving the longterm care (LTC) system in South Carolina. These recommendations and their associated action steps offer clear guidance on how to pursue needed improvements. Although the members of the LTC Taskforce addressed a diverse array of critical issues, they did not set out to create a strategic plan. However, the recommendations of this report provide a solid foundation for the development of such a comprehensive, fully integrated approach to addressing LTC in our state. As such, the LTC Taskforce recommends the development of a formal strategic plan for providing and sustaining long-term services and supports for older adults and people with disabilities in our state. Such a plan should address the role of government, the private sector and public-private partnerships, as well as the contributions of volunteers and family caregivers. It should also address how South Carolina will ensure community integration for older adults and people with disabilities as required by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services' HCBS Rule and the Olmstead decision (the U.S. Supreme Court decision of 1999 requiring community-based services for persons with disabilities). Data collection and progress monitoring should be put into place to support the process. The plan should cover all available funding sources (including public, private pay and volunteer resources), different levels of need and all target populations.

Although the recommendations presented in this report are comprehensive and reflect the expansive scope of the LTC Taskforce, there are areas that emerged as a part of the taskforce deliberations that were seen as beyond the focus of this effort. One such area-transportation-was seen as fundamentally related to long-term care in that critical inadequacies in the transportation system in our state create essential barriers to individuals living independently and hamper access to needed services and supports. The complexities of this topic, though, transcended the collective expertise of those assembled to focus on long-term care. In order to effectively address the pervasive concerns around the transportation system in our state, the LTC Taskforce recommends the formation of a statewide taskforce on transportation that engages experts, consumers and leaders from across South Carolina in an effort to enhance transportation services, particularly for older adults and persons with disabilities.

Ultimately, this report and the recommendations it contains represent a living document. This report should be used as a flexible tool in seeking needed improvements in the LTC system in our state. The desire of the taskforce members was to create recommendations that can be translated into action. In some instances, such action requires testing new approaches and determining what works. For that purpose, the LTC taskforce also recommends the development of formal "incubator" processes to pilot and evaluate new approaches to providing long-term services and supports. Such "incubators" could allow for innovative ideas to be brought from theory into practice in support of policy, systems and environmental improvements in select communities across our state. Gauging what works would allow for promising results to be translated more quickly to communities in other areas of the state in a manner that accelerates improvements. The involvement of communities and private-sector partners is essential, as government cannot do it all. The dramatic needs that will be generated from the demographic changes that our society will experience over the next 20 years will exceed the capacity of any one entity–even government. Private-sector entities, communities, families and individuals must work alongside government to meet this demand.

In order to ensure that real improvements evolve from the recommendations of this report, it will be essential to structure an implementation phase that can engage responsible entities in progress around the action steps and allow for tracking of progress. To that end, the LTC Taskforce recommends that there be a formal and structured implementation process that brings collective focus, leadership and accountability to each of the recommendations presented in this report. In addition, implementation efforts could yield further innovations as practical improvements begin to occur-particularly in the era of health care reform. Ultimately, all of this must happen in order to prepare our state to meet the vital and changing long-term care needs of all South Carolinians.

#### References

- <sup>1</sup> Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. 2014. "Long-Term Care: What Are the Issues?" February. http://www.rwjf.org/healthpolicy. (accessed April 12, 2015).
- <sup>2</sup> United States Census Bureau. "State and County QuickFacts: South Carolina." http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/45000.html. (accessed April 12, 2015).
- <sup>3</sup> United States Census Bureau. 2014. 65+ in the United States: 2010. P23-212. Washington, DC: GPO.
- <sup>4</sup> South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office. 2014. "South Carolina 2030 Population Projections." http://www.sccommunityprofiles.org/census/sc\_proj.php. (accessed April 12, 2015).
- <sup>5</sup> South Carolina Lieutenant Governor's Office on Aging. 2012. State Plan on Aging 2013-2017, Draft. http://aging.sc.gov/SiteCollectionDocuments/S/STATE%20PLAN%202013-2017%20Draft%20for%20Public.pdf. (accessed April 12, 2015).
- <sup>6</sup> Alzheimer's Association. "Risk Factors." http://www.alz.org/alzheimers\_disease\_causes\_risk\_factors.asp. (accessed April 12, 2015).
- <sup>7</sup> Redfoot, Donald, Lynn Feinberg, and Ari Houser. 2013. "The Aging of the Baby Boom and the Growing Care Gap: A Look at Future Declines in the Availability of Family Caregivers." AARP Public Policy Institute, August. http://www.aarp.org/home-family/caregiving/info-08-2013/the-aging-of-the-baby-boom-and-the-growing-care-gap-AARP-ppi-ltc.html. (accessed April 12, 2015).
- <sup>8</sup> Shugarman, Lisa R., Kelya Whitenhill, and Gretchen E. Alkema. 2010. "Who Needs and Who Uses Long-Term Care?" The SCAN Foundation. November 4. http://www.thescanfoundation.org/who-needs-and-uses-long-term-care. (accessed April 12, 2015).

- <sup>10</sup> Dvorine, Andrew, Life Actuary. 2015. South Carolina Department of Insurance. Correspondence with author. April 24.
- <sup>11</sup> South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services. 2015. "Analysis of Medicaid Nursing Facility Expenditures and Medicaid Permit and Paid Days for State Fiscal Years 2010 through 2015." Agency provided information.
- <sup>12</sup> Houser, Ari, Wendy Fox-Grage, and Kathleen Ujvari. 2012. Across the states: Profiles of long-term services and supports. Washington, DC: AARP Public Policy Institute.
- <sup>13</sup> Tapley, Jon. 2015. South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services. Correspondence with author. February 12.
- <sup>14</sup> Center for Health Care Strategies, Inc. (CHCS). "Online Toolkit." http://www.chcs.org/toolkit/medicare-medicaid-integration-onlinetoolkit/. (accessed May 6, 2015).
- <sup>15</sup> Ng, Terence, Charlene Harrington, MaryBeth Musumeci, and Erica L. Reaves. Medicaid Home and Community-Based Services Programs: 2011 Data Update. # 7720-08. Washington, DC: The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation.
- <sup>16</sup> Eiken, Steve, Kate Sredl, Lisa Gold, Jessica Kasten, Brian Burwell, and Paul Saucier. 2014. "Medicaid Expenditures for Long-Term Services and Supprots in FFY 2012." Truven Health Analytics. April 28.
- <sup>17</sup> Borck, Rosemary, Victoria Peebles, Dean Miller, and Robert Schmitz. 2014. Interstate Variation and Progress Toward Balance in use of and Expenditure for Long-Term Services and Supports in 2009. United States Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, Office of Disability, Aging and, Long-Term Care Policy. Washington, DC: DHHS.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Genworth Financial. 2014. Cost of Care Survey 2014. Arlington, VA: Genworth Financial, Inc.

- <sup>18</sup>U.S. Senate Commission on Long-Term Care. 2013. Report to the Congress. September 30. Washington, D.C: Government Printing Office. http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/GPO-LTCCOMMISSION/pdf/GPO-LTCCOMMISSION.pdf.
- <sup>19</sup> Stone, Robyn, and Mary F. Harahan. 2010. "Improving the Long-Term Care Workforce Serving Older Adults." Health Affairs 29, no. 1: 109–115. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2009.0554. (accessed May 10, 2015).
- <sup>20</sup> Eldercare Workforce Alliance. "Geriatrics Workforce Shortage: A Looming Crisis for Our Families." Last updated February 16, 2011. http://www.eldercareworkforce.org/research/issue-briefs/research:geriatrics-workforce-shortage-a-looming-crisis-for-our-families/.
- <sup>21</sup> Institute of Medicine (IOM). 2008. Retooling for an aging America: Building the health care workforce. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- <sup>22</sup> The John A. Hartford Foundation. 2011. A day in the life of an academic geriatric nurse: 2010 Annual Report. New York, New York: The John A. Hartford Foundation.
- <sup>23</sup> McConnell, Eleanor S., Deborah Lekan, and Kirsten N. Corazzini. 2010. "Assuring the adequacy of staffing of long-term care, strengthening the caregiving workforce, and making long-term care a career destination of choice." North Carolina Medical Journal 71, no. 2: 153–157.
- <sup>24</sup>Paraprofessional Healthcare Institute (PHI). 2013. "Facts 3: America's direct-care workforce." PHI. November. http://phinational.org/ sites/phinational.org/files/phi-facts-3.pdf. (accessed May 06, 2015).
- <sup>25</sup> Paraprofessional Healthcare Institute (PHI). "PHI State Data Center." http://phinational.org/policy/states. (accessed May 06, 2015).
- <sup>26</sup> Maidment, Paul. 2007. "America's Best- and Worst- Paying Jobs." Forbes. June 4. http://www.forbes.com/2007/06/04/jobs-careerscompensation-lead-careers-cx\_pm\_0604jobs.html. (accessed May 6, 2015).
- <sup>27</sup> American Nurses Association and National Council of States Board of Nursing. 2006. "Joint Statement on Delegation." https://www. ncsbn.org/Delegation\_joint\_statement\_NCSBN-ANA.pdf. (accessed May 6, 2015).
- <sup>28</sup> Reinhard, Susan C., Enid Kassner, Ari Houser, Kathleen Ujuari, Robert Mollica, and Leslie Hendrickson. 2014. Raising expectations: A state scorecard on long-term services and supports for older adults, people with physical disabilities, and family caregivers, 2nd edition. Washington, DC: AARP Public Policy Institute.
- <sup>29</sup> South Carolina Legislative Audit Council. 2014. "S.C. Department of Disabilities and Special Needs' Process to Protect Consumers from Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation, Administrative Issues, and a Follow Up to Our 2008 Audit." South Carolina State Documents Depository. LAC/12-4.
- <sup>30</sup> Adult Protection Coordinating Council (APCC). 2000. "Adult Abuse Registry Report." South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, APCC.
- <sup>31</sup> South Carolina Legislative Audit Council. 2008. "A Review of the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs." South Carolina State Documents Depository. LAC/07-3.
- <sup>32</sup> U.S. Government Accounting Office (GAO). 2011. Elder Justice: Stronger federal leadership could enhance national response to elder abuse. GAO-11-208. Washington, DC: GAO.
- <sup>33</sup> National Center on Elder Abuse. "Statistics/Data: Abuse of Those with Disabilities." http://ncea.aoa.gov/Library/Data/index.aspx#ltc. (accessed May 10, 2015).
- <sup>34</sup> Connelly, M.T., B. Brandl, and R. Breckman. 2014. The Elder Justice Roadmap: A stakeholder initiative to respond to an emerging health, justice, financial and social crisis. United States DHHS, Administration on Aging, National Center on Elder Abuse. http:// ncea.acl.gov/library/gov\_report/docs/ejrp\_roadmap.pdf. (accessed May 10, 2015).
- <sup>35</sup> South Carolina Department of Social Services (DSS). 2002. "Annual Accountability Report: Fiscal Year 2001-2002." South Carolina DSS.
- <sup>36</sup> South Carolina DSS. 2013. "Annual Accountability Report July 1, 2012 June 30, 2013: Fiscal Year 2012-2013." South Carolina DSS.

- <sup>37</sup> National Adult Protective Services Resource Center (NAPSRC). 2012. Adult protective services in 2012: Increasingly vulnerable. Springfield, IL: NAPSRC.
- <sup>38</sup> South Carolina General Assembly. 2000. General Appropriations Bill H. 4775, FY2000–2001. http://www.scstatehouse.gov/ sess113\_1999-2000/appropriations2000/tas13.htm.
- <sup>39</sup> South Carolina General Assembly. 2014. General Appropriations Bill H. 4701, FY 2014–2015. http://www.scstatehouse.gov/ sess120\_2013-2014/appropriations2014/tas38.htm.
- <sup>40</sup> South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, Division of Health Licensing. "Summary of Regulated Facilities, Activities, and Professionals." <u>https://www.scdhec.gov/Health/docs/LicensedFacilities/hrfsum.pdf</u>. (accessed May 6, 2015).
- <sup>41</sup> Martin, Alexis, Program Manager I. 2014. South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services. Correspondence with author. December 19.
- <sup>42</sup> Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc. 2009. "No place to call home: How South Carolina has failed residents of community residential care facilities." Columbia, SC: Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc.
- <sup>43</sup> Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc. 2013. "Still no place to call home: How South Carolina continues to fail residents of community residential facilities." Columbia, SC: Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc.
- <sup>44</sup>Adult Protection Coordinating Council. 2014. "CRCF Study Committee Report and Recommendations." South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, APCC.
- <sup>45</sup> Houser, Ari, Wendy Fox-Grage, and Kathleen Ujvari. 2012. Across the states: Profiles of long-term services and supports: Executive summary, state data, and rankings, 9th Edition. Washington, DC: AARP Public Policy Institute.
- <sup>46</sup> Norton, Maria C., Ken R. Smith, Truls Østbye, JoAnn T. Tschanz, Chris Corcoran, Sarah Schwartz, Kathleen W. Piercy, Peter V. Rabins, David C. Steffens, Ingmar Skoog, John C. S. Breitner, and Kathleen A. Welsh-Bohmer. 2010. "Greater risk of dementia when spouse has dementia? The Cache County study." Journal of American Geriatrics Society 58, no. 5: 895–900. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.02806.x (accessed May 12, 2015).
- <sup>47</sup> Rosalynn Carter Institute for Caregiving. 2010. Averting the caregiving crisis: Why we must act now. Americus, GA: Rosalynn Carter Institute for Caregiving.
- <sup>48</sup> Feinberg, Lynn, Susan C. Reinhard, Ari Houser, and Rita Choula. 2011. Valuing the invaluable: 2011 update: The growing contributions and costs of family caregiving. Washington, DC: AARP Public Policy Institute.
- <sup>49</sup> Mayfield-Smith, Kathy, Allison Poole, and Anne Wolf. Take a break SC!: Sustaining South Carolina's family caregivers through respite. Columbia, SC: South Carolina Lt. Governor's Office on Aging, Lifespan Respite State Advisory Committee.
- <sup>50</sup> Reinhard, Susan C., and Carol Levine. 2012. "Home Alone: Family Caregivers Providing Complex Chronic Care." 2012-10. AARP Public Policy Institute.
- <sup>51</sup> Rosalynn Carter Institute for Caregiving. "The Georgia CARE-NET Coalition: the Caregiver's Advocate." http://www.rosalynncarter. org/georgia\_care\_net/. (accessed May 6, 2015).
- <sup>52</sup> MetLife. 2006. The MetLife caregiving cost study: Productivity losses to U.S. business. Westport, CT: MetLife Mature Market Institute.
- <sup>53</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Division of Unintentional Injury Prevention. "Costs of Falls Among Older Adults." Last modified March 19, 2015. http://www.cdc.gov/HomeandRecreationalSafety/ Falls/fallcost.html.
- <sup>54</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2013. The state of aging and health in America 2013. Atlanta, GA: DHHS, CDC.
- <sup>55</sup> South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office. 2015. "Fall Data: South Carolina, Fiscal Year 2012." Agency provided information.
- <sup>56</sup> Albert, Steven M., Jennifer King, Robert Boudreau, Tanushree Prasad, Chyongchiou J. Lin, and Anne B. Newman. 2014. "Primary prevention of falls: Effectiveness of a statewide program." American Journal of Public Health 104, no. 5: e77–e84.

- <sup>57</sup> Burton, Cassandra. 2014. 2014 caring for yourself and your family: Opinions and experiences of South Carolina registered voters age 45 and older. Washington, DC: AARP Research Center. http://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/research/ surveys\_statistics/il/2014/2014-Caring-for-Yourself-and-Your-Family-Opinions-and-Experiences-of-South-Carolina-Registered-Voters-Age-45-and-Older-AARP-res-il.pdf. (accessed May 6, 2015).
- <sup>58</sup> United State Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Aging. "The Basics: Who Needs Care?" http:// longtermcare.gov/the-basics/who-needs-care/. (accessed May 6, 2015).
- <sup>59</sup> The Associated Press-NORC Center for Public Affairs Research. 2014. Long term care in America: expectations and reality. Chicago, IL: The Associated Press-NORC Center for Public Affairs Research. May.
- <sup>60</sup> Insured Retirement Institute (IRI). 2015. Boomer expectations for retirement 2015: Fifth annual update on the retirement preparedness of the Boomer Generation. Washington, DC: IRI.
- <sup>61</sup> United States Department of Education, Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services, Rehabilitation Services Administration. "View info about your state: South Carolina." https://rsa.ed.gov/about-your-state.cfm. (accessed May 6, 2015).
- <sup>62</sup> South Carolina Coalition for the Care of the Seriously III. "About the South Carolina Coalition for the Care of the Seriously III." Handout. https://www.scmedical.org/uploads/files/Flyer.pdf. (accessed May 10, 2015).

### Appendix A Full List of Taskforce Members

### STEERING COMMITTEE

Mr. Joel A. Smith – Chair Dean Emeritus, USC Moore School of Business A Former President, Bank of America (East Region Banking Group)

Ms. Cindy Alewine President and CEO Alzheimer's Association, SC Chapter

Ms. Teresa Arnold State Director AARP South Carolina

Ms. Coretta Bedsole Associate State Director for Advocacy AARP South Carolina

Ms. Stephanie Blunt Executive Director Trident Area Agency on Aging

Mr. Bruce Bondo Member Silver Haired Legislature

Dr. Tom Brown President and CEO (retired) Lutheran Homes of South Carolina

Ms. Pam Dukes Executive Director Senior Resources

Ms. Cindy Helling Executive Director (former) Select Health of South Carolina

Ms. Nikki Hutchison Principal Capstone Consulting, LLC

Mr. Lea B. Kerrison Kerrison Law, LLC Director, Medicaid Services South Carolina Alliance of Health Plans

Mr. Tony Kester Director (retired) Lt. Governor's Office on Aging

IMPH.ORG

Dr. Pete Liggett Deputy Director for Long Term Care and Behavioral Health SC Department of Health and Human Services

Ms. Vickie Moody CEO LeadingAge South Carolina

Ms. Gloria Prevost Executive Director Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc.

Dr. Anna Scheyett Dean and Professor USC College of Social Work

Mr. Sam Waldrep Chair (past) Adult Protection Coordinating Council

### ACCESS TO CARE COMMITTEE

Ms. Stephanie Blunt – Co-Chair Executive Director Trident Area Agency on Aging

Dr. Anna Scheyett – Co-Chair Dean and Professor USC College of Social Work

Ms. Anna Maria Darwin Attorney/Team Leader Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc.

Ms. Joyce Davis Executive Director Brain Injury Association of SC

Dr. Cristy DeGregory Clinical Assistant Professor USC College of Nursing

Ms. Lavern Glover Program Manager Office of Public Transit SC Department of Transportation

Ms. Brenda Hyleman Director Office for the Study of Aging USC Arnold School of Public Health Ms. Stephanie Kemp Director of Nursing C.M. Tucker, Jr. Nursing Care Center – Stone Pavilion SC Department of Mental Health

Dr. Pete Liggett Deputy Director for Long Term Care and Behavioral Health SC Department of Health and Human Services

Ms. Norma Jean Mobley Nursing Home Administrator C.M. Tucker, Jr. Nursing Care Center – Roddey Pavilion SC Department of Mental Health

Ms. Kimberly Tissot Executive Director Able South Carolina

Mr. Sam Wiley Vice President of Programs Alzheimer's Association, SC Chapter

### FINANCING & AFFORDABILITY COMMITTEE

Ms. Pam Dukes – Co-Chair Executive Director Senior Resources

Ms. Cindy Helling – Co-Chair Executive Director (former) Select Health of South Carolina

Mr. John Belissary Administrator New Generations Adult Day Centers

Mr. Michael Bridges Partner Dobson, Jones, Ball, Phillips & Bridges, P.A., 2013–2014 Chair (past), Elder Law Committee, South Carolina Bar

Ms. Frances F. Corley Administrator – Veterans Services SC Department of Mental Health

Ms. Leslie Jones Deputy Director and Chief Actuary (former) SC Department of Insurance

Mr. Lea B. Kerrison Kerrison Law, LLC Director, Medicaid Services South Carolina Alliance of Health Plans Mr. Tony Kester Director (retired) Lt. Governor's Office on Aging

Dr. Pete Liggett Deputy Director for Long Term Care and Behavioral Health SC Department of Health and Human Services

Ms. Vickie Moody CEO LeadingAge South Carolina

Mr. Robert Morgan Accountant/Fiscal Analyst C.M. Tucker, Jr. Nursing Care Center SC Department of Mental Health

Dr. Corey Remle Assistant Professor, Sociology Department Francis Marion University

Ms. Susan Robinson Executive Director South Carolina Respite Coalition

Ms. Beth Sulkowski Vice President of Communications & Advocacy Alzheimer's Association, SC Chapter

Ms. Kim Wilkerson Director of Clinical and Quality Services SC Health Care Association

Mr. Seth Zamek Owner/Executive Director Senior Helpers

### **PROVIDERS & WORKFORCE COMMITTEE**

Ms. Coretta Bedsole – Co-Chair Associate State Director for Advocacy AARP South Carolina

Mr. Sam Waldrep – Co-Chair Chair (past) Adult Protection Coordinating Council

Dr. Jeannette Andrews Dean and Professor USC College of Nursing

Ms. Stefanie Corbett Deputy Director, Health Regulation (former) SC Department of Health & Environmental Control Mr. Matthew Gilley Partner Ford & Harrison LLP

Ms. Elva M. Hyre (Sandy) Director, Division of Evaluation, Training & Research SC Department of Mental Health

Ms. Heather Jones Associate Vice President of Quality Initiatives & State Relations SC Home Care & Hospice Association

Dr. Sue Lyman Professor Emeritus, Department of Social Work Winthrop University

Ms. Maria Patton SC Vulnerable Adult Guardian ad Litem Director Office for the Study of Aging USC Arnold School of Public Health

Mr. Roy Smith Director, Community Long Term Care SC Department of Health and Human Services

Ms. Tina Spears Administrator Caring, Inc.

Ms. Beth Sulkowski Vice President of Communications & Advocacy Alzheimer's Association, SC Chapter

Mr. Akin Watson Vice President All Caregivers, Inc.

Ms. Kim Wilkerson Director of Clinical and Quality Services SC Health Care Association

Ms. Lisa Wilson Nursing Administrator (former) G. Werber Bryan Psychiatric Hospital SC Department of Mental Health

Ms. Barbara Wright Administrator Helping Hands/Hope Bridge

### SERVICE DELIVERY COMMITTEE

Mr. Bruce Bondo – Co-Chair Member Silver Haired Legislature IMPH.ORG Dr. Tom Brown – Co-Chair President and CEO (retired) Lutheran Homes of South Carolina

Ms. Valerie Aiken CEO Health Force

Ms. Teresa Arnold State Director AARP South Carolina

Ms. Joyce Davis Executive Director Brain Injury Association of SC

Ms. Tracy Doran President and Board Chair Humanities Foundation

Dr. Cheryl J. Dye Director, Institute for Engaged Aging Professor, Department of Public Health Sciences Clemson University

Dr. John Egbert Medical Director Palmetto SeniorCare

Mr. David Goodell Associate State Director, Operations SC Department of Disabilities and Special Needs

Dr. Victor Hirth Medical Director, Division of Geriatric Services, Palmetto Health Professor and Chief, Division of Geriatrics, USC School of Medicine Medical Director, Health Science Center

Ms. Nikki Hutchison Principal Capstone Consulting, LLC

Mr. Ed Keelen President Enabletech

Ms. Stella Kelly Program Manager, Community Long Term Care SC Department of Health and Human Services Mr. Tony Kester Director (retired) Lt. Governor's Office on Aging

Dr. Debra Krotish Continuing Medical Education Manager Assistant Professor, Internal Medicine Office of Continuous Professional Development and Strategic Affairs USC School of Medicine–Palmetto Health

Dr. Nathaniel Patterson Program Director for Health Services SC Department of Health and Human Services

Ms. Gloria Prevost Executive Director Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc.

Mr. Nate Rhodes Owner Always Best Care of the Midlands

Ms. Barbara Robinson Executive Director Catawba Area Agency on Aging

Dr. Kimberly Rudd Director of Medical Services for Long Term Care Medical Director, Division of Inpatient Services SC Department of Mental Health

Ms. Lynn Stockman Executive Director Newberry County Council on Aging

Mr. Sam Wiley Vice President of Programs Alzheimer's Association, SC Chapter

### **COMMUNICATIONS COMMITTEE**

Ms. Brooke Bailey Deputy Communications Director SC Department of Health and Human Services

Mr. Robert Butt President and Chief Creative Officer Marketing Performance, LLC

Mr. Patrick Cobb Associate State Director, Communications AARP South Carolina Ms. Elizabeth Ford Family Caregiver Support Program Manager Lt. Governor's Office on Aging

Ms. Nikki Hutchison Principal Capstone Consulting, LLC

Ms. Heather Jones Associate Vice President of Quality Initiatives & State Relations SC Home Care & Hospice Association

Dr. Joseph L. (Lee) Pearson Director of Operations South Carolina Institute of Medicine & Public Health

Ms. Beth Sulkowski Vice President of Communications & Advocacy Alzheimer's Association, SC Chapter

Dr. Megan Weis Associate Director, Outreach and Program Development South Carolina Institute of Medicine & Public Health

### ADVISORS ON FAMILY CARGIVER ISSUES

Dr. Cheryl J. Dye Director, Institute for Engaged Aging Professor, Department of Public Health Sciences Clemson University

Dr. Sue Lyman Professor Emeritus, Department of Social Work Winthrop University

Agency	Overview/Organizational Placement/Structure	Primary LTSS Funding Sources	Major Target Populations for LTSS	Major Long-Term Services and Supports
South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services	<ul> <li>Designated State Medicaid Agency</li> <li>Cabinet level agency</li> <li>11 regional Community Long Term Care offices and county eligibility offices</li> </ul>	Medicaid (federal/ state) Other state funds	<ul> <li>Individuals who meet:</li> <li>Income and resource limits</li> <li>Medical necessity requirements for some services, like nursing facility or home and community-based services (HCBS)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Nursing facility care</li> <li>HCBS waivers</li> <li>Home health</li> <li>Hospice</li> <li>Optional State Supplementation &amp; OSCAP</li> <li>Targeted case management</li> </ul>
Lieutenant Governor's Office on Aging	<ul> <li>Designated State Unit on Aging</li> <li>Division within the Lt. Governor's Office</li> <li>Leads the Aging Network, which is comprised of 10 Area Agencies on Aging (AAAs)/Aging and Disability Resource Centers (ADRCs), county-level Councils on Aging &amp; other private providers</li> </ul>	Older Americans Act (OAA) Other federal Other state funds Special note: local funds are raised from multiple sources by the AAAs/ ADRCs to match federal OAA funds.	People age 60 and older, with direct services targeted to those with greatest social and economic need	<ul> <li>The LGOA and Aging Network provide a range of HCBS and related programs, including: <ul> <li>Home-delivered &amp; group dining meals</li> <li>Transportation</li> <li>Home care</li> <li>Family caregiver support programs, including respite support</li> <li>Info, referral &amp; assistance</li> <li>Long-Term Care Ombudsman services</li> <li>Insurance counseling</li> <li>Legal services</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs	<ul> <li>Designated State Intellectual Disability Authority</li> <li>Free-standing state agency with Commission</li> <li>4 regional centers (Intermediate Care Facilities for Individuals with Intellectual Disabilities/ICF- IIDs), county-level Disability &amp; Special Needs Boards and other contracted private providers</li> </ul>	Medicaid (federal/ state) Other state funds	<ul> <li>Indviduals with:</li> <li>Intellectual disabilities or related disorders</li> <li>Autism Spectrum Disorders</li> <li>Head and/or spinal cord injuries or similar disabilities</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Home and community- based waiver programs</li> <li>Other community-based services</li> <li>Residential programs</li> <li>Service coordination</li> <li>ICF-IIDs</li> </ul>
South Carolina Department of Mental Health	<ul> <li>Designated State Mental Health Authority</li> <li>Free-standing state agency with Commission</li> <li>Operates inpatient psychiatric hospitals, 3 nursing facilities,17 community mental health centers</li> </ul>	Medicaid (federal/ state) Other state funds	Individuals with mental illness Nursing facilities serve eligible individuals in need of skilled nursing care, including veterans	<ul> <li>Nursing facility care</li> <li>In-patient psychiatric services</li> <li>Community mental health services</li> <li>Case management</li> </ul>
South Carolina Department of Social Services	<ul> <li>Cabinet-level agency</li> <li>46 county offices</li> <li>Administers South Carolina's Adult Protective Services Program</li> </ul>	Federal	Vulnerable adults in need of protective custody due to abuse, neglect or exploitation	Adult protective services

### Appendix B Overview of Major Agencies Providing Long-Term Services and Supports (LTSS) in SC

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) also plays a critical role in the state's system of long-term services and supports. DHEC provides regulatory oversight and licensing for long-term care facilities, residential programs and providers. The agency also offers health promotion programs through its Division of Healthy Aging and provides targeted clinical services.

Note: This chart represents only major LTSS and does not include other agency programs, services or funding.

### **Appendix C**

### List of Acronyms

AAA–Area Agencies on Aging

ADRC-Aging and Disability Resource Center

APCC-Adult Protection Coordinating Council

APS-Adult Protective Services

CLTC-Community Long Term Care

CRCF-Community Residential Care Facilities

CNA-Certified Nursing Assistant

DCW-Direct Care Worker

DHEC-South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control

DDSN-South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs

DMH-South Carolina Department of Mental Health

DSS-South Carolina Department of Social Services

FCSP-Family Caregiver Support Program

HCBS-Home and Community-Based Services

LAC-Legislative Audit Council

LGOA-Lieutenant Governor's Office on Aging

LLR-Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation

LTC-Long-Term Care (also referred to as LTSS)

LTSS-Long-Term Services and Supports (also referred to as LTC)

OAA-Older Americans Act

OAPA-Omnibus Adult Protection Act

OSA-USC Arnold School of Public Health's Office for the Study of Aging

OSS-Optional State Supplementation Program

OSCAP-Optional Supplemental Care for Assisted Living Participants Program

PACE-Program of All-inclusive Care for the Elderly

PART-Preventing Avoidable Readmissions Together

RFA-South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office

SCDHHS-South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services

SCHA-South Carolina Hospital Association

SNF-Skilled Nursing Facility

SCRC-South Carolina Respite Coalition

South Carolina AHEC-South Carolina Area Health Education Consortium

The mission of the South Carolina Institute of Medicine & Public Health (IMPH) is to collectively inform policy to improve health and health care. IMPH seeks to achieve this mission by convening academic, governmental, organizational and community-based stakeholders around issues important to the health and well-being of all South Carolinians. In conducting this work, IMPH takes a comprehensive approach to advancing health issues through data analysis and translation and collaborative engagement. The work of IMPH is supported by a diverse array of public and private sources.

www.imph.org